
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




Workshop AgendaWorkshop AgendaWorkshop AgendaWorkshop Agenda
Board of Commissioners


November 3, 2010


 3:30 P.M.


Call to Order by Chairman.


Acceptance of Agenda.


OLD BUSINESS:


A. Continued discussion of revisions to the Ethics Ordinance.


NEW BUSINESS:


B. Review of a request from the City of Fayetteville related to the intersection of


Hood Road and State Route 92 at State Route 85.


C. Discussion of staff’s recommendation that the County adopt Policy No. 100.11


which provides guidelines for the use of county property.


D. Consideration of a request from the Extension Office that the County restore


funding for a portion of an Agriculture and Natural Resources Agent’s


position.


E. Consideration of revisions to Fayette County Development Regulations,


Article V and VII.


REPORT:


F. Presentation of the monthly update on the County’s 2010 Transportation


Work Plan by Public Works Director Phil Mallon.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT


ATTORNEY’S REPORT


STAFF REPORTS


BOARD REPORTS


EXECUTIVE SESSION


ADJOURNMENT


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS


Jack Smith, Chairman
Herb Frady, Vice Chairman


Lee Hearn
Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


i


STAFF


Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney


Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk


Floyd Jones, Deputy Clerk


i


MEETING LOCATION


Commissioners Conference Room
Administrative Complex
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214


i


MEETING TIMES


1st Wednesday each month at 3:30 p.m.


i


COMMISSION OFFICE


Administrative Complex
Suite 100


140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214
Phone: 770.305.5200
Fax: 770.305.5210


i


WEB SITE


www.fayettecountyga.gov


i


E-MAIL


administration@fayettecountyga.gov








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


County Commissioners Scott Bennett, County Attorney


Continued discussion of revisions to the Ethics Ordinance.   


At the Board's Workshop on October 6, the County Attorney presented the first draft on a revised Ethics Ordinance for Fayette County. 


The Attorney will be bringing in the second draft to review with the Board. 


 


When the Board reaches a consensus on the terms and conditions for a final document, this item will be scheduled for  adoption by the 


Board.


This item is only for discussion at this time.


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, October 6, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Old BusinessWednesday, November 3, 2010







 1 


STATE OF GEORGIA  
COUNTY OF FAYETTE 
 


ORDINANCE NO. __________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, FAYETTE 
COUNTY, GEORGIA CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION; TO PROVIDE FOR 
ETHICAL STANDARDS; TO PROVIDE FOR CODIFICATION; TO PROVIDE 
FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE FOR PENALTIES; TO REPEAL 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO PROVIDE AN ADOPTION DATE; TO 
PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
ALLOWED BY LAW. 


 


WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of Fayette County is the Board of 
Commissioners thereof; 
 


WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to amend the provision that provides for the 
ethical standards of county officials as allowed by the State of Georgia; 
 


WHEREAS, the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Fayette County, Georgia 
shall be improved and protected by adoption and implementation of this Ordinance. 


 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF FAYETTE COUNTY, 


GEORGIA AND IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY AUTHORITY THEREOF: 


 
Section 1.  That Article VIII of Chapter 2 Administration of the Code of Ordinances, Fayette 
County, Georgia is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced to read as follows: 
 


Sec. 2-207.  Purpose. 


The proper operation of local government requires that the public officials 
be independent, impartial and responsible to the people; that the government 
decisions and policy be made through proper channels of the governmental 
structure; that public office not be used for personal gain; that the public officials 
be free from the appearance of impropriety; and that the public have confidence in 
the integrity of its government. In recognition of these goals, a code of ethics for 
all county officials is adopted. The purpose of this policy is to establish ethical 
standards of conduct for all such officials by setting forth those acts or actions that 
are incompatible with the best interests of the county and by directing disclosure 
by such officials of private financial or other interests in matters affecting the 
county.  


Sec. 2-208.  Definitions. 


Business entity means any business, proprietorship, firm, partnership, 
person in either a representative or a fiduciary capacity, association, venture, trust, 
or corporation.  







 2 


Confidential information means any information which, by law or 
practice, is not available to the public.  


County official or official shall mean the county board of commissioners, 
county administrator, county attorney and his assistants, and any county employee 
who has been appointed to the position by the board of commissioners.  


Immediate family means an official and the spouse of an official, their 
parents, children, brothers and sisters related by blood or marriage.  


Interest means direct or indirect pecuniary or material benefit accruing to 
a public officer or official as a result of a contract or transaction which is or may 
be the subject of an official act or action by or with the county except for such 
contracts or transactions which, by their terms and by the substance of their 
provisions, confer the opportunity and right to realize the accrual of similar 
benefits to all other persons and/or property similarly situated.  


For purposes of this policy, a county official shall be deemed to have an 
interest in the affairs of:  


(1) his or her immediate family; 


(2) any business entity in which the county official is an officer, director, 
or member having a financial interest in, or employed by it; or 


(3) any business entity as to which the stock, legal ownership, or 
beneficial ownership of a county official is in excess of five percent of the 
total stock or total legal and beneficial ownership, or which is controlled 
or owned directly or indirectly by the county official.  


Official act or action means any legislative, administrative, appointive or 
discretionary act of any official of the county or any agency, board, committee, 
authority or commission thereof.  


        Reprimand means an expression of disapproval.  


Sec. 2-209.  Standards. 


(a) Interest in contract or transaction. No county official having the power or duty 
to perform an official act or action related to a contract or transaction which is or 
may be the subject of an official act or action of the county shall:  


(1) have or thereafter acquire an interest in such contract or transaction, or 


(2) have an interest in any business entity involved in such contract or 
transactions, or  







 3 


(3) have solicited or accepted present or future employment with a person 
or business entity involved in such contract or transaction, or  


(4) have solicited or accepted a present or future gift, favor, service, or 
thing of value from a person involved in such contract or transaction, 
except as provided in section 2-210, below.  


(b) Pre-acquisition of interest. No county official shall acquire an interest in a 
contract or transaction which is or may be the subject of an official act or action 
of the county at a time when the county official believes or has reason to believe 
that such contract or transaction will be directly or indirectly affected by an 
official act or action of the county.  


(c) Disclosure of information. No county official shall without proper legal 
authorization, disclose confidential information concerning the property, 
government, or affairs of the county, or use such information to advance the 
financial or other private interest of himself or others.  


(d) No county official shall waive the attorney-client privilege or disclose any 
documents protected by the attorney-client privilege without the consent of the 
majority of the board of commissioners.  


(e)  No county official shall disclose to others matters discussed in executive 
session of any board or commission without the consent of the majority of the 
board of commissioners or until after the minutes of the meeting is required to be 
released as a matter of law.  


(f) Incompatible service. No county official shall engage in or accept private 
employment or render service for any private entity, when such employment or 
service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official duties or would 
tend to impair his independence of judgment or action in the performance of his 
official duties, unless otherwise permitted by law and unless disclosure is made as 
provided in this policy.  


(g) Appearance. No county official shall appear on behalf of any private person 
other than himself, his spouse or minor children, before any county agency, 
authority or board. However, a member of the board of commissioners may 
appear before such groups on behalf of his constituents in the course of his duties 
as a representative of the electorate or in the performance of public or civic 
obligations.  


(h) Public property. No county official shall request or permit the unauthorized 
use of county-owned vehicles, equipment, materials or property for personal 
convenience or profit.  


(i) Special treatment. No county official shall grant any special consideration, 
treatment or advantage to any citizen beyond that which is available to every 
other citizen in the same or similar circumstances.  







 4 


(j) Later case interest. No county official shall, after the termination of service or 
employment with the county, accept remuneration of any kind for any appearance 
before any board, commission, committee, agency or authority of the county on 
behalf of any adverse party in relation to any case, proceeding, or application in 
which he personally participated during the period of his service or employment, 
which was under his active consideration during the period of his service or 
employment, or as to which he could have acquired knowledge or information 
during the period of his service or employment.  


(k) Political recrimination. No county official, whether elected or appointed, shall 
promise an appointment or threaten the dismissal from any county position as a 
reward or punishment for any political activity.  


(l) Withholding of information. No county official shall knowingly withhold any 
information which would impair the proper decision making of any of the county 
board, authorities, agency or commissions.  


(m) Payment of debts. All county officials shall settle all accounts between them 
and the county, including the payment of taxes, in a timely fashion.  


(n) Organizational integrity. County commissioners, as policy makers, shall 
refrain from interfering in the daily administrative affairs of department directors. 
Commissioners shall not, acting alone, make suggestions to the department 
directors or their employees regarding the performance of their duties, nor give 
instructions to department directors or other employees.  Commissioners shall not 
make recommendations regarding the hiring, firing or disciplining of department 
directors and other county employees.  


Sec. 2-210.  Exceptions. 


(a) It shall not be deemed a violation of the standards of this policy if the interest 
of a county official in a person or business entity is a contractual obligation of less 
than $500.00 which has not been preceded by any other obligation, discharged or 
existing, between the parties, and which is not the first in a series of two or more 
loans or debts which either of the parties is under any obligation to make or incur.  


(b) The following shall not be deemed a violation of the standards of this policy: 


(1) Legitimate salary, benefits, fees, commissions, or expenses associated 
with an official’s non-public business;  


(2) An award, plaque, certificate, memento, or similar item given in 
recognition of the official’s civic, charitable, political, professional, or 
public service;  


(3) Food, beverages, and registration at group events to which all similarly 
situated officials are invited; 







 5 


(4) Actual and reasonable expenses for food, beverages, travel, lodging, 
and registration for a meeting which are provided to an official so that he 
or she may participate or speak at the meeting;  


(5) A commercially reasonable loan made in the ordinary course of 
business; 


(6) Any gift with a total value less than $100.00 in any calendar year; 


(7) Promotional items generally distributed to public officials generally; 


(8) A gift from a member of the public official’s immediate family; or 


(9) Food, beverage, or expenses afforded public officials, and members of 
their immediate families, or others that are associated with normal and 
customary business or social functions or activities.  


(c) It shall not be deemed a violation of the standards of this policy if a county 
official, in his capacity as such official, participates in the making of a contract 
even if such official has a private pecuniary interest or performs in regard to that 
contract some function requiring the exercise of discretion on his part, if;  


(1) The contract is awarded through a process of public notice and 
competitive bidding, or 


(2) The board of commissioners at regular meeting, after determining that 
it is in the best interest of the county to do so, authorizes the participation.  


Sec. 2-211.  Disclosure of interest in legislative action. 


(a) Any member of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia who 
has financial or personal interest in any proposed legislation before the 
commission shall immediately disclose on the record the nature and extent of such 
interest.  


(b) Any other official who has a financial or personal interest in any proposed 
legislative action of the board of commissioners, and who participates in 
discussion with or gives an official opinion or recommendation to the 
commission, shall disclose on the record the nature and extent of such interest.  


Sec. 2-212.  Abstentions. 


A county official who has an interest that he has reason to believe may be 
affected by an official act or action shall abstain from any participation in the 
same.  







 6 


Sec. 2-213.  Enforcement and administration.  


(a)  Constituting the board; chairman.  


(a)  Constituting the board; chairman.  


1. The board of ethics of the county is hereby created and authorized 
by the board of commissioners.  


2. The board of ethics of the county shall be composed of three (3) 
residents of the county to be appointed as provided herein.  Each member 
of the board of ethics shall have been a resident of the county for at least 
one year immediately preceding the date of taking office and shall remain 
a resident of the county while serving as a member of the board of ethics.  
No person shall serve as a member of the board of ethics if the person has, 
or has had within the preceding one year period, any interest in any 
contract, transaction, or official action of the county.  


3. The members of the board of commissioners may nominate 
persons to serve on the board of ethics, who shall be appointed by a 
majority vote of the board of commissioners.  These individuals must 
agree to undergo a criminal background check conducted by the County 
Marshal prior to designation, and/or redesignation, the results of which 
will be forwarded to the board of commissioners. These individuals should 
be available to be called upon for their term of office.  At the end of each 
term, the board of commissioners shall appoint eligible residents to fill the 
board.  Current members can be reappointed and there shall be no term 
limits for the members.  If a member of the board of ethics does not finish 
their term, the remainder of the term shall be filled through and 
appointment by the board of commissioners. 


4. If any member of the board of ethics has a conflict of interest in 
any matter before the board, the remaining two members of the board of 
ethics shall select an alternate to serve for that matter. 


5. The board shall select a chairman at the beginning of each matter 
to be heard.   


6. Term of Office. The term of office for each member of the board 
of ethics shall be for three (3) years; however, in the appointment of the 
first board, one (1) member shall be appointed for three (3) years; one (1) 
for two (2) years and one (1) for one (1) year. It is the intent of this section 
that their terms be staggered. Any vacancy in the membership shall be 
filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the initial 
appointment.     


(b)  Duties of board. The board of ethics shall have the following duties and 
powers:  







 7 


(1)  To administer the ethics ordinance;  


(2)  To receive, review, process, make determinations on, and hear 
complaints of violations of standards required by this chapter.  The board 
is not designed to be an oversight board or to perform investigations;  


(3)  To make such response to a complaint as it deems necessary to 
determine whether any person has violated any provisions of this chapter;  


(4)  To hold such hearings and make such inquiries as deemed necessary 
to investigate and rule upon complaints; or 


(5)  To report its findings and actions to the board of commissioners.  


(c)  Administration.  


(1)  Complaints.  


a.  All complaints of ethical violations must be filed with the 
county clerk, in writing, signed by the complainant, no later than 
90 days after the alleged act occurred unless the complainant, by 
exercising reasonable diligence, failed to discover the alleged 
ethical violation within such 90 day period. In such a case, the 
complainant must file a written complaint with the county clerk no 
later than 90 days after the complainant discovered the alleged 
violation. In all such cases brought after 90 days from the date of 
the alleged ethical violation, the complainant bears the burden of 
convincing the board of the true date complainant learned of the 
alleged violation.  


b.  In no event, shall an ethical charge be filed with the county 
clerk more than two years from the date of the alleged ethical 
violation.  


c.  The complainant may withdraw the complaint at any time in 
writing.  


(2)  Pay and staff support.  


a.  The members of the board of ethics shall serve without 
compensation.  The governing authority of the county shall provide 
meeting space for the board of ethics. Subject to budgetary 
procedures and requirements of the county, the county shall 
provide the board of ethics with such supplies and equipment as 
may be reasonably necessary for it to perform its duties and 
responsibilities.  







 8 


b.  The county clerk shall serve as the recording secretary to the 
board and shall provide such administrative services to the board 
as may be necessary.  


c.  Subject to budgetary procedures and requirements of the 
county, the county shall provide the board of ethics with such legal 
staffing as may be reasonably necessary for it to perform its duties 
and responsibilities. 


(3)  Action by the board. Within 30 days of receipt of a complaint from the 
county clerk, the board may perform one or more of the following:  


a.  Upon receipt of a complaint in proper form, review the 
complaint to determine whether the complaint is unjustified, 
frivolous, patently unfounded or fails to state facts sufficient to 
invoke disciplinary jurisdiction. The board of ethics shall be 
empowered to collect evidence and information concerning any 
complaint and to add the findings and results of its investigation to 
the file containing such complaint;  


b.  Upon completion of its review and/or investigation of a 
complaint, the board at a public meeting may dismiss those 
complaints which are unjustified, frivolous, patently unfounded or 
which fail to state facts sufficient to invoke disciplinary 
jurisdiction. Provided, however, that a rejection of such complaint 
by the board of ethics shall not deprive the complaining party of 
any action he/she might otherwise have at law or in equity against 
the respondent. A rejection shall prevent refiling of a complaint 
regarding the same subject(s) and alleged perpetrator(s) for the 
same offense;  


c.  Admonish, formally reprimand, publicly censure, any 
complaining party that files an unjustified, frivolous, patently 
unfounded or factually insufficient complaint;  


d.  Forward an order to the board of commissioners; or  


e.  Hold a public hearing within 60 days after the complaint was 
received.  


(4)  Parties rights. At any hearing held by the board of ethics, the official 
who is the subject of a complaint shall have the right to written notice of 
the allegations at least ten business days before a hearing, to be 
represented by counsel, to hear and examine the evidence and witnesses 
and to present evidence and witnesses in opposition or in extenuation 
according to the procedures contained in subparagraph (6).  







 9 


(5)  Advisory opinions. When any official has a doubt regarding the 
applicability of any provision of this chapter to a particular situation, or 
regarding the definition of its terms, he may apply in writing or verbally 
during a public meeting to the county attorney for an advisory opinion. 
The advisory opinion shall be written unless it is given verbally during a 
public meeting, and may be provided directly to the requestor of such 
opinion. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prohibit a request for 
an informal opinion by any public official from the county attorney 
regarding a potential conflict of interest. Neither a request for an informal 
opinion, nor the making of a statement concerning a potential conflict of 
interest made by a member of the governing body in the course of 
abstaining from voting shall create a presumption or inference that a 
public servant actually has a personal interest in the matter about which 
the opinion was requested.  


(6)  Hearing procedures.  


a.  At the hearing the conduct of the parties shall be dignified both 
on and off the record.  


b.  Misconduct before the board may be grounds for summary 
exclusion from the hearing. The hearing is intended to receive 
evidence either to refute or to substantiate specific charges. It shall 
not be a forum for discussion of extraneous or irrelevant matters 
having no bearing on the charges, and the alleged misconduct of 
others who may have escaped discipline in the past shall serve as 
no defense.  All parties at action and witnesses shall be given 
ample time and opportunity to develop points, subject to the 
discretion of the board.  


c.  It should be recognized that the board will be composed of 
private citizens. Accordingly, the board may not follow established 
legal procedures as might be expected in a court of law.  However, 
in taking testimony and in considering the evidence, the board 
shall follow accepted legal procedure insofar as is practicable but 
shall not be bound by the technical rules of evidence observed in 
courts of law.  The board may decline to listen to numerous 
character witnesses or numbers of witnesses testifying to identical 
facts.  


d.  The chairman of the board of ethics shall conduct the hearing.  


e.  The hearing shall be recorded and the county clerk shall prepare 
a written summary of the hearing. The complainant and/or 
respondent may provide a court reporter at their expense for a 
verbatim transcript of the hearing, if so desired. The county clerk, 
or their designee shall take minutes of the hearing, specifically 







 10 


including the name of the board members who make any motions, 
the board members who second any such motions, and the names 
of the individuals on the board and  how each voted. This written 
report shall be presented to the board of commissioners at the 
conclusion of the board’s proceedings.  


f.  All three members of the constituted board shall be required to 
conduct the hearing.  If a member is unable to attend the hearing, 
the board of commissioners shall designate one of the alternates to 
replace the member. The ethics board may, before the hearing and 
upon ten days notice to all parties, approve regulations governing 
conduct of ethics board hearings so long as such regulations do not 
conflict with this Article. 


g.  The person who filed the complaint (“complainant”) shall 
present his case to the board first.  


h.  All documentary evidence which is anticipated to be submitted 
to the board at the hearing by either the respondent or the 
complainant, and the names, with telephone numbers, of all 
individuals expected to present testimony to the board on behalf of 
either the respondent or complainant, must be given to the county 
clerk and the opposing party at least ten days in advance of the 
hearing. This requirement shall not apply to evidence used solely 
for purposes of cross-examination or rebuttal. The failure of a 
party to adhere to this rule shall preclude such party from tendering 
such evidence or individual’s testimony at the hearing through any 
form. The respondent, complainant, and the public shall be entitled 
to see all such lists which are placed on file with the county clerk.  


i.  The board may compel the production of any document in the 
possession of the county and subject to the Open Records Act and 
the testimony of any county employee.  Where the board compels 
any such document or testimony after a hearing has commenced a 
continuation shall be provided so that such order can be complied 
with. 


j.  Neither party shall have the right to require depositions of any 
individual, including the opposite party.  


k.  The complainant’s evidence must prove that respondent is 
guilty of the offense charged by the evidentiary standard 
commonly referred to as “preponderance of the evidence.”  


l.  Each witness presented by the complainant, and including the 
complainant, shall be subject to cross-examination by the 







 11 


individual accused of the ethical violation (“respondent”) or such 
person’s representative.  


m.  At the conclusion of the complainant’s case, the respondent 
shall be entitled to move for dismissal based on insufficient 
evidence on the part of complainant’s case. If respondent makes 
such a motion and the board, by majority vote, agrees to dismiss 
the complaint, the hearing shall be terminated at this point. If either 
the respondent fails to make such a motion, or, if the board decides 
by majority vote to overrule respondent’s motion, the hearing shall 
continue. The board may also direct a decision in favor of the 
respondent upon the board’s own initiative.  


n.  Respondent shall then be entitled to present his evidence to the 
board.  


o.  Respondent is not required to testify. The absence of 
respondent’s testimony shall not be viewed by the board as an 
admission of any sort.  


p.  If respondent testifies, then respondent shall be subject to cross-
examination by complainant. All other witnesses who testify in the 
respondent’s case shall be subject to cross-examination by 
complainant.  


q.  All persons who testify before the board, shall be placed under 
oath, by either the chairman or a person designated by the 
chairman.  


r.  At the conclusion of respondent’s case, the complainant may 
offer rebuttal evidence only to those items presented in 
respondent’s case. At the conclusion of complainant’s rebuttal, 
respondent shall be entitled to offer rebuttal evidence only to those 
matters presented in complainant’s rebuttal case.  


s.  During the course of testimony and at the conclusion of all the 
testimony and closure of all of the evidence, the board members 
may ask questions of any of the individuals who testified before 
the board.  


t.  At the conclusion of all questions by parties and board members, 
the chairman shall end the hearing and permit the board to 
deliberate in public. If the board decides by majority vote that 
additional evidence is needed to make a decision, the board shall 
have the authority to require either the complainant or respondent 
to submit additional evidence at a continuation of the hearing 
which must be held no later than 45 days after the date of the initial 







 12 


hearing. The board has no authority to continue the hearing past 
this 45-day deadline.  


u.  Following the conclusion of any additional evidence received at 
the continued hearing, the board shall continue to deliberate. When 
deliberations are concluded, the chairman shall call for a vote. The 
board may vote immediately after deliberations are concluded or 
they may continue the meeting for up to two weeks when a public 
vote must be taken. The board’s first vote must be whether the 
respondent violated the ethics code as charged by the complainant. 
If, by majority vote, the board rules that the respondent did not 
violate the ethics code as charged by the complainant, then the 
matter is concluded. If the board, by majority vote, concludes that 
the respondent did violate the ethics code as charged by the 
complainant, then the board must make a second decision by 
majority vote. The second decision involves the form of penalty. 
The board shall have six options of penalty which include:  


i.  No admonishment and no further action;  


ii.  A public reprimand and admonishment not to violate the 
ethics code in the future;  


iii.  Formal reprimand;  


iv.  Public censure;  


v.  Recommendation for termination, resignation, or recall; 
or  


vi.  Recommendation of prosecution in the State Court of 
Fayette County.  


v.  The complainant may withdraw his or her complaint at any time 
without the approval of the board. 


w.  An order will be generated by the board and submitted to the 
board of commissioners for inclusion in the minutes within fifteen 
(15) days of the completed hearing.  


(d)   Judicial review of decisions. 


(1)   Any public official adversely affected by any final decision of the 
board of ethics under subsection (f) of this section may obtain judicial 
review of such decision as provided in this subsection. 







 13 


(2)   An action for judicial review may be commenced in the Superior 
Court of Fayette County within 30 days after the decision of the board of 
ethics becomes final. 


(3)   The effective date of the final decision of the board of ethics shall be 
postponed pending judicial review as provided for in this subsection. 


(4)   The record on review, unless otherwise stipulated by the parties, shall 
include the original or certified copies of all pleadings, testimony, 
evidence, exhibits, and other papers presented to or considered by the 
board of ethics and the findings and decisions of the board of ethics. As to 
alleged procedural irregularities, evidence may be taken independently by 
the court. 


(5)   If the court finds no error, it shall affirm the decision of the board of 
ethics. The court shall hold unlawful and set aside the decision of the 
board of ethics if it finds that such action was: 


i.  Arbitrary or capricious; 


ii.  A denial of a statutory right; 


iii.  Contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity; 


iv.  In excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, purposes, or 
limitation; 


v.  Not in accord with the procedures or procedural limitations of 
this section or as otherwise required by law; 


vi.  An abuse of discretion, unsupported by substantial evidence 
when the record is considered as a whole; or 


vii.  Otherwise contrary to law. 


(6)   The decision of the trial court shall be subject to appellate review in 
the same manner and with the same effect as in appeals from a final 
judgment or decree in any other civil action. 


Sec. 2-214.  Penalties. 


County officials are subject to the following penalties and action for breach of 
ethics: 


(1) Written warning or reprimand; 


(2) Cancellation of the contract or rejection of the bid or offer; 


(3) Recovery of the value transferred or received, and 







 14 


(4) Debarment or suspension from award of county contract for a period of 
up to three years. 


Sec. 2-215.  Compliance with applicable laws. 


No officer or official shall engage in any activity or transaction that is 
prohibited by any law, now existing or hereafter enacted, which is applicable to 
him or her by virtue of his or her office.  


Secs. 2-216—2-220. - Reserved. 


Section 2. That the preamble of this Ordinance shall be considered to be and is hereby 
incorporated by reference as if fully set out herein. 
 
Section 3. a. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that all 
Sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Article are and were, upon their 
enactment, believed by the Board of Commissioners to be fully valid, enforceable and 
constitutional. 
 
b. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that, to the greatest 
extent allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance is severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance. It is hereby further declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that, 
to the greatest extent allowed by law, no Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Article is mutually dependent upon any other Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of 
this Article. 
 
c. In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Article shall, for any 
reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable by the valid 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the Board of 
Commissioners that such invalidity, unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest 
extent allowed by law, not render invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the 
remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or Sections of the Article and that, to the 
greatest extent allowed by law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and 
Sections of the Article shall remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect. 
 
Section 4.  All ordinances or resolutions and parts of ordinances or resolutions in conflict 
herewith are hereby expressly repealed. 
 
Section 5.  The effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of adoption unless otherwise 
specified herein. 
 
IT IS SO ORDAINED THIS ____ DAY OF ________________, 2010. 
 
 


FAYETTE COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 







 15 


 
 
________________________________________ 
JACK R. SMITH, CHAIRMAN 


 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
CLERK/DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 


 


 


 


 


 





		Commissioners- Ethics Ordinance Agenda Request File.pdf

		Commissioners- Ethics Ordinance Backup






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


County Commissioners Jack Krakeel 


Review of a request from the City of Fayetteville related to the intersection of Hood Road and State Route 92 at State Route 85.


The 2003 County-wide Transportation Plan includes a project that would make changes to the intersection of Hood Road and S.R. 92 


(Forrest Avenue) at S.R. 85. This project was identified as a project to be funded with the "70% funds" from 2004 Transportation  Special 


Purpose Local Option Sales Tax proceeds. 


 


City officials are ready to present preliminary designs for the intersection to the County Commissioners. 


 


The City and the County will partner to complete this project, using an Intergovernmental Agreement to define the roles and 


responsibilities of each entity.   


Hear details about the project design. This is an approved SPLOST project


2004 SPLOST proceeds would fund this project.


No


No


Yes


No


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessWednesday, November 3, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


County Commissioners Carol Chandler


Discussion of staff's recommendation that the County adopt Policy No. 100.11 which provides guidelines for the use of county property.


For many years the County has allowed eligible persons, organizations, elected officials and government entities to use county owned, 


leased, or managed property for special events. Use of county property is not allowed for commercial. In 2005, the Board of 


Commissioners adopted specific guidelines to more carefully monitor the use of county property and to more clearly define what would be 


permitted. Staff was given more clear direction on uses that should be prohibited or limited in order to protect the County's assets. 


 


The policy under consideration puts the long-time practice into a formal policy format. Staff is requesting that this document be scheduled 


for approval at the Board's November 18 meeting.


Discussion of the proposed policy and authorization to place this item on the Board's November 18 agenda for approval


There is no cost associated with this request.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessWednesday, November 3, 2010







FAYETTE COUNTY  


POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 


_____________________________________________________________________________________ 


 


            ADMINISTRATION 


                                                 USE OF PUBLIC BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS 


 


            100.11 


PURPOSE 


 


The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the use of property and buildings owned, leased or 


managed by Fayette County by eligible persons, agencies, organizations or groups other than the Fayette 


County Government. 


 


POLICY 
 


Fayette County allows limited use of certain properties owned, leased, or managed by Fayette County 


(hereafter called “county property”) by eligible persons, groups, and agencies under certain conditions.  


There shall be a consistent and uniform process for permitting use of Fayette County’s buildings and 


grounds. This policy addresses use of all such properties in general and addresses in particular specific 


locations not addressed in the Fayette County Policy and Procedures Manual or otherwise. 


 


A. Rules Pertaining to the Use of All Property Owned, Leased, or Managed by Fayette County 
 


The following rules shall be applicable to all properties owned, leased or managed by Fayette County: 


 


1. All applicable federal, state, and local laws and ordinances shall be observed at all times on 


 property owned, leased, or managed by Fayette County. In particular, laws regulating noise, 


 lighting, signage, and the opening and closing times for county properties must be 


 observed. 


 


2. Requests for use of county grounds and buildings by other governments shall take priority over 


 other applications. Requests which conflict with use of the property by county departments will 


 not be considered. 


 


3. County property shall not be reserved for commercial uses or use by “for-profit” entities. 


 Commercial entities may be invited to participate in activities on county property sponsored 


 and presented by a county department or by another eligible government entity which has express 


 permission from the county to do so. 


 


4. There shall be no fundraising on county property unless the activity is sponsored by a county 


 department or another eligible government entity which has express permission from the county 


 to do so. 


 


5. The person or organization in whose name the reservation for use of county property has been 


 made shall be the same person or organization responsible for conducting the activity. Applicants 


 must be at least  21 years of age and must be a resident of Fayette County. The applicant shall be 


 held responsible for ensuring that event attendees comply with the County’s terms and conditions, 


 particularly regarding the security and safe-keeping of county property, including buildings, 


 grounds, and structures, interior and exterior. 


 







6. No smoking is permitted inside any county building or facility and is permitted only in designated 


 smoking areas in accordance with Fayette County Ordinance No. 98-05. 


 


7. No alcohol use will be permitted on county property without the express approval of the Fayette 


 County Board of Commissioners in accordance with Fayette County Ordinance No. 2009-05. 


 


8. The County retains the right to charge a security deposit and/or fees to recover the cost of 


 utilities, supplies, or personnel time required during or after an event. The County also reserves 


 the right to require a waiver of liability and/or a Certificate of Insurance for the purpose of 


 holding Fayette County harmless for injuries or death occurring on county property during an 


 event. 


 


9. County property must be left clean and orderly, including the removal of trash, signage, flyers, 


 and brochures or other materials used during the event. Failure to leave the county property clean 


 and orderly can result in the denial of future requests. Any security deposit will be forfeited.  


 


10. The County does not provide personnel to assist in the set-up for an event, assistance during an 


 event, or clean-up after an event. The County does not provide supplies, equipment, or other 


 materials needed to conduct an event. 


 


11. No permanent fixture, appurtenance, or apparatus shall be affixed to county property. No action


 that leaves damages or defaces county property, including buildings, paved/concrete surfaces or 


 walls, or permanently alters the appearance or condition of the county property shall be allowed. 


 The County will take necessary appropriate action to recover the cost of repairs to damage to 


 county property. 


 


12. Reservations for the use of county property are granted on a “first come, first served” basis, 


 assuming an application meets the terms and conditions of this Policy and unless otherwise noted. 


 The County reserves the right to withdraw its approval of an event on county property if 


 subsequent information suggests the event is not in the best interest of the community. 


 


13. Political activities on county property.   


 


 a.  Political rallies or campaign activities or gatherings by or on behalf of any current candidate 


 for public office, regardless of elected status or political party, are not permitted on any county 


 property.  


 


 b.  This section is not intended to prohibit sitting elected officials, whether local, state, or federal 


 level, from holding public meetings or hearings, “town hall meetings”, or other informational 


 or educational gatherings on county property for the purpose of disseminating information or 


 soliciting input from constituents concerning current or on-going issues. 


  


 c.  Activities commonly known as “candidate debates” or “political forums” are allowed to be 


 held in the Fayette County Public Library Public Meeting Room and the Public Meeting Room of 


 the Fayette County Administrative Complex, with certain stipulations. No county department 


 shall propose, sponsor, host, or promote such an event. In order for a request for a reservation for 


 such an event to be approved, the applicant must agree that all candidates for the positions for 


 which the event is held, regardless of party, incumbency, or lack thereof, shall be invited to 


 participate. 


 


B. Use of Specific Properties Administered by This Policy 







 
1. Requests for use of the following county property are specifically administered by this Policy:   


 


 a. The Public Meeting Room (aka Meeting Chambers) 


 b. Administrative Complex Parking Lot, Lobby, and Restrooms 


 c. The Historic County Courthouse 


 d. Heritage Park 


 


 Conditions for the use of each of these properties vary from site to site. Conditions for each site 


 are described individually below.  
 
2. The Fayette County Justice Center, Jail, and Sheriff’s Offices are not addressed by this policy and 


 are not permitted to be used for purposes other than their designated normal business uses during 


 normal business hours under any circumstances without the express approval of the Board of 


 Commissioners. Requests for use of these specified facilities should be directed to the Board of 


 Commissioners. 


 


3.   This policy is not intended to replace policies already established governing other Fayette County 


 properties, specifically the Parks and Recreational Department properties, the Fayette County 


 Public Library, Water System properties, and the Fayette Senior Services property. Please refer to 


 the Policy and Procedures Manual for policies related to Recreation Department properties, the 


 Public Library and filming on county property. 


 


PROCEDURE 
 


C. Applications for Use of County Property and Grounds Administered by This Policy 
 


1.   Applications for use of county property administered by this policy may be obtained by 


 contacting the Office of the Board of Commissioners located at 140 Stonewall Avenue West in 


 Fayetteville. A copy of this Policy and an application form will be provided upon request. The 


 applicant must complete and sign the application, indicating agreement with the terms and 


 conditions of this Policy. 


 


2.   Only “Not-for-profit” entities, including local, state, or federal level government entities are 


 eligible to apply for use of county property. The applicant representing the entity must be 21 


 years of age and a resident of Fayette County. A ‘Not-for-profit” entity may be asked to provide 


 proof of “Not-for-profit” status by the Internal Revenue Service. 


 


3. Fayette County may require a waiver of liability and/or a Certificate of Insurance 


 Indemnification for the purpose of holding Fayette County harmless for damages, injuries or 


 death occurring on county property during an event. If these documents are not provided when 


 requested, the application will be denied. 


 


4.   The decision to approve or disapprove an application for use of county property, except where 


 otherwise specified, shall be made by the County Clerk, the County Administrator, or their 


 designee. 


 
The following conditions shall be applicable to these certain locations: 


 


a. Public Meeting Room (Meeting Chambers) 


 







 i. The Public Meeting Room is available for use by county departments, officials, and  


  boards, committees or agencies to which the Board of Commissioners appoints members. 


  It is not reserved for use by commercial or “Not-for-profit” entities.  


 


 ii. Other government entities are permitted to use the Public Meeting Room during normal  


  business hours. 


 


 iii. Sitting elected officials, whether local, state, or federal level, are allowed to use the  


  Public Meeting Room for the purpose of  holding public meetings or hearings, “town hall 


  meetings”, or other informational or educational gatherings on county property for the  


  purpose of disseminating information or soliciting input from constituents concerning  


  current or on-going issues.  


  


 iv.   Activities commonly known as “candidate debates” or “political forums” are allowed to  


  be held in the Public Meeting Room with certain stipulations. In order for a request  


  for a reservation for such an event to be approved, the applicant must agree that all  


  candidates for the positions for which the event is held, regardless of party, incumbency,  


  or lack thereof, shall be invited to participate. 


 


 v. No food or drinks are allowed in the Public Meeting Room. 


 


 vi. Limited audio, visual, and other electronic equipment is available in the Public Meeting  


  Room upon request. Special arrangements must be made in order to use the equipment,  


  including instructions on use and safe-keeping of the equipment. 


    


b. Administrative Complex Lobby and Restrooms 


 


 i. The first floor of the Administrative Complex Lobby and the restrooms located on the  


  first floor may be made available for events held on the Administrative Complex site.  


  Special arrangements to have the Lobby and restrooms open must be made. Restrooms  


  inside office suites cannot be made available during events. If portable restrooms are  


  used by sponsors of an event, the location for the portable restrooms must be approved  


  by the County prior to them being installed. 


 


c. Administrative Complex Parking Lot 


 


 i. The parking lot of the Administrative Complex can be reserved for events that meet the  


  terms and conditions of this policy. While temporary markings are allowed on the  


  parking surface, no permanent paint, holes, or other permanent alterations are allowed.  


  Signs are not allowed in the parking lot other than directional signs on the day of an  


  event. 


 


 ii. From time to time, use of the Administrative Complex may require assistance from the  


  Marshals’ Office for restricting the movement or parking of vehicles to accommodate an  


  event. The Marshals’ Office will work directly with the event sponsor to determine the  


  level and type of assistance needed.  


 


d. Historic County Courthouse 


 


 i. The Historic Fayette County Courthouse is currently under lease and is in use. Events,  


  tours, or visits involving the interior of the structure must be made through the lessor. 







 


 ii. The grounds of the Historic Courthouse are available for special events that comply with  


  the terms and conditions of this Policy. Government entities and “Not-for-profit” entities  


  can reserve the grounds under the conditions of this Policy. Commercial entities are not  


  allowed to reserve use of the grounds. However, commercial and “For-profit” entities  


  may be invited to participate in events sponsored by eligible government or “Not-for- 


  profit” entities. 


 


 iii. Temporary signs announcing upcoming events are allowed to be posted on the northwest  


  corner of the grounds of the Historic Courthouse, provided the signs are posted by an  


  eligible government or “Not-for-profit” entity, as allowed by this Policy. Signs are  


  allowed for a period of 14 days each. Only one sign on the site is allowed at one time.  


  “Not-for-profit entities are limited to two reservations for signs per calendar year.  


 


f. Heritage Park 


 


 i. Heritage Park is a passive facility designed to recognize and honor the history of Fayette  


  County, as well Veterans of our Armed Forces. Reservations for limited use of Heritage  


  Park for special events by eligible government entities and “Not-for-profit” entities will  


  be considered on a case-by case basis, after consultation with the County’s Facilities  


  Manager. Considerations include the nature of the event, use of a stage or other   


  appurtenances, anticipated volume of attendees, potential damage to marble, granite and  


  brick surfaces, turf and other landscaping. can reserve the Park under   


  


ENFORCEMENT 
 


The Fayette County Marshal’s Office is responsible for enforcing the terms of this policy.  


 


As all contingencies cannot be anticipated by this Policy, exceptions to this Policy may be considered and 


approved only by the Fayette County Administrator.  Exceptions will not include requests related to the 


Fayette County Justice Center, Jail, or Sheriff’s Office. 


 





		Commissioners- Use of Property Policy Agenda Request File.pdf

		Commissioners- Use of Property Policy Backup






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Extension Office Craig Gross


Consideration of a request from the Extension Office that the County restore funding for a portion of an Agriculture and Natural 


Resources Agent's position.


The University of Georgia and Fayette County have been partnering to offer educational programs and services through the Fayette 


County Cooperative Extension Office for several decades. The Extension Office provides Fayette County citizens with current, research-


based materials and programs to help foster safe and informed decisions. Many of the programs not only provide much needed training 


to the public, but they also help the County comply with current storm water management regulations and guidelines. 


The Extension Office typically would have two certified Agents that would provide these educational programs and services. The office 


has been without an Agriculture and Natural Resources Agent since July 2008 due to state and county hiring freezes. 


These economic woes have forced the Georgia Cooperative Extension System to do a thorough review of their programming, staffing 


methods and focus. This intensive process has included input from county, district and state faculty and staff as well as many county 


commissioners, county civic and business leaders and numerous commodity groups. This new effort will allow for each county to have a 


flexible “tiered approach” to providing programs and services based on each county’s needs. 


 


This process has helped Fayette County to receive “high priority” rating for a Natural Resources Agent. The University regrets that the 


position has been vacant for as long as it has and would like to start recruiting to fill the position. Their goal is to recruit and bring in an 


experienced agent that could start working in the county in as early as January 2011.


Permission to place this item on the November 18 agenda for approval which would allow staff to advertise and recruit for an experienced 


agent to provide Agriculture and Natural Resources programming. 


This position is a contract position between the University of Georgia and the County,requiring minimal funding. The annual commitment 


is about $17,574.00 for salary and all benefits. The position is paid directly from UGA and then the County is billed for in arrears. 


Yes


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessWednesday, November 3, 2010







 


 


Fayette County Extension 
140 Stonewall Avenue West 
Suite 209 
Fayetteville, GA 30214 


Phone: (770) 305-5412 ext. 5135
Fax: (770) 719-5533


Email: cegross@uga.edu


 


Monday, October 4, 2010 


The mission of the Fayette County Extension is to provide lifelong learning to the people and to 
respond to people's needs and interest in agriculture and natural resources, families, 4-H and 
youth through education and information, using unbiased, research-based education. 


The Fayette County Cooperative Extension, backed by the resources of Fayette County, the 


University of Georgia, Ft. Valley State University and the Department of Agriculture, provides 
educational programs, information, materials, and actual assistance to the citizens of the county. 
Education and information is also provided to the citizens by telephone consultation, formal 
educational (classroom) programs, school programs, plant clinics, site visits, newsletters, news 
articles, radio and collaboration with other community agencies. Publications, web site and 
laboratory services are other delivery methods for safe - education and information to the county 
citizens. 


The basic goal of the Fayette County Cooperative Extension Office is to provide information that 
will contribute to learning for life, which, in tum, helps citizens make informed decisions with 
unbiased, research-based information - this improving quality of life. We are also Fayette 
County's gateway to the University of Georgia and all the resources associated therein. 


There is no doubt that the recent economic conditions have created strain and departments across 
the country. The State of Georgia and Fayette County is definitely no exception. The Fayette 
County Extension Office has lost one full-time Agriculture and Natural Resources Agent and 
two part-time program assistants because of the hiring freeze that the economic downturn 
caused.  


These economic woes have forced the Georgia Cooperative Extension System to do a thorough 
review of their programming, staffing methods and focus. This intensive process has included 
input from county, district and state faculty and staff as well as many county commissioners, 
county civic and business leaders and numerous commodity groups. Essentially, this new model 
will allow for each county to have a flexible “tiered approach” to providing programs and 
services based on their own county’s needs. 


This review allowed Fayette County to be given a “high priority” rating for a Natural Resources 
Agent. The University regrets that the position has been vacant for as long as it has and would 
like to start recruiting as early as November 1, 2010 to fill the position. Their goal is to recruit 
and bring in an experienced agent that could start working in the county in early January 2011. 


Sincerely, 


Craig E. Gross 
County Extension Coordinator 







Fayette County Cooperative Extension Office 
Agriculture and Natural Resources 


Program Coverage 
 
The following information was compiled to help highlight the major programs that the 
Agriculture and Natural Resources (ANR) Agent would be coordinating and assisting with. The 
number of participants and programs conducted show that there is an increasing interest and need 
for an ANR Agent. 


 


Water Testing 2010 2009 2008 


 
Basic Water Tests 49 65 42 


 
Water Bacteria Tests 11 10 11 


 
Pond Diagnosis 12 8 14 


 
Water Well Testing 3 6   


TOTAL NUMBERS 75 89 67 


 
2010 numbers are from January 1 to September 30, 2010 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


    


0


10


20


30


40


50


60


70


80


90


2010 2009 2008


71 89 67


Water Testing







Soil Testing 2010 2009 2008 


 
Soil Nutrient Tests 477 609 488 


 
Soil Nematode Assay Tests 26 2 0 


 
Soil Chemical/Pesticide Testing 2 0 0 


 
Soil Petroleum Tests 2 0 0 


TOTAL NUMBERS 507 611 488 


 
2010 numbers are from January 1 to September 30, 2010 


 


 


     Pests 2010 2009 
 


 
DDDI Submissions 39 24 


 
 


Home or Office Follow Up 379 297 
 


 
Plant Disease ID and Recommendations 143 116 


 
 


Tree Pest ID and Recommendations 94 112 
 


 
Turf Pest ID and Recommendation 36 34 


 TOTAL NUMBERS 691 583 
 


 


 


 
 
 


   


0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700


2010 2009 2008


496 611 488


Soil Testing


500


550


600


650


700


2010 2009


691
583


Pests







Environment/Stormwater Education 2010 2009 2008 


 
Private Pesticide Certification 48 9 2 


 
Youth In School Programs (two programs) + 1273 1453 1110 


 
Youth Home School Programs (two programs) 23 11 0 


 
Adult Education Programs (11 classes) 1417 750 237 


 
In Depth MG Classes (train the trainer) 31 17 3 


 
Plant Clinics 683 347   


TOTAL NUMBERS 3427 2578 1350 


 
+ not all classes have been completed for 2010 


   


Environmental/Stormwater Education 


 
 


Master Gardener Program 2010 2009 2008 


 
Active Master Gardeners 134 121 95 


 
Interns 26 14 10 


 
Plant a Row for the Hungry Harvested     23,025      27,846      10,777  


 
Fruit Distributed to food banks/shelters     62,925  


  
 


Volunteer Hours Worked  **         6,370         6,322  
 Value to the county ** $222,831.99 $195,425.71 


 
** Numbers not yet compiled for 2010 


   In 2009, Fayette County Master Gardeners traveled 33,992 miles in support of education, 
diagnosing pest problems, and other volunteer roles 
 


 


0
500


1000
1500
2000
2500
3000
3500


2010 2009 2008


3475 2587
1352


Volunteer 
Hours 


P.A.R. 


Miles Driven 


Fayette County Master Gardeners 
“2009 Value to the County” 


$180,000.00 
$190,000.00 
$200,000.00 
$210,000.00 
$220,000.00 
$230,000.00 


2009 2008







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CAES Griffin Campus 
1109 Experiment St. 
Flynt Bldg., Room 227 
Griffin, GA 30223 
October 5, 2010 
 
 
TO:  Craig Gross 
  CEC, Fayette County 
 
 
 
FROM:  
 
  _______________ 
  Greg Price 
  District Extension Director 
  Northwest District 
 
 
Enclosed is the amended county contract for the Fayette County Board of Commissioners.  
Attached is the budget.  Once the budget is approved, please have your Chairman sign two 
copies of the contract letter and return to my office.  Two completed signed documents will be 
returned to your office for the Board of Commissioners files and your files.  
 
 
 
 
bd 
 
enclosure 
   







 
    
 
   
 
 
 
Northwest District Extension  
1109 Experiment St.     
Flynt Bldg., Room 227 
Griffin, GA 30223 
 
 
Dear Mr. Price, 
 
The purpose of this letter is to notify you that we wish to amend the agreement between the 
Fayette County Board of Commissioners and the Board of Regents of the University System of 
Georgia, on behalf of the University of Georgia Cooperative Extension, for the provision of 
Extension Programs to our County.  The term of this agreement shall be from July 1, 2010 
through June, 2011.  An annual budget is attached.  
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Chairman 
Board of Commissioners 
Fayette County, Georgia 
 
 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
County Extension Coordinator       Date 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
District Extension Director        Date 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Associate Dean for Extension- CES, UGA      Date 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Dean & Director of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences, UGA   Date 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Vice-President for Public Service & Outreach, UGA    Date 







 


Fayette County  
Board of Commissioners 


July 1, 2010-June 30, 2011 
AMENDED 


 
ANNUAL SALARY 
Craig Gross, CEC, 4-H Agent 12,000.00 
Vacant ANR Agent 12,000.00 
Jeanette Martin, Secretary 13,419.00 
 37,419.00 
ANNUAL BENEFITS 
Teacher’s Retirement (10.28%)                                                                
Craig Gross, CEC, 4-H Agent 1,233.60 
Vacant ANR Agent 1,233.60 
Jeanette Martin, Secretary 1,379.47 
 3,846.67 
Social Security (7.65%) 
Craig Gross, CEC 4-H Agent 918.00 
Vacant ANR Agent 918.00 
Jeanette Martin, Secretary 1,026.55 
 2,862.55 
Health Insurance 
Craig Gross, CEC 4-H Agent 3,403.28 
Vacant ANR Agent  3,403.28 
Jeanette Martin, Secretary 6,538.46                
 13,345.02 
Life Insurance 
Craig Gross, CEC, 4-H Agent 18.60 
Vacant ANR Agent 18.60 
Jeanette Martin, Secretary 34.92 
 72.12 
 
Yearly Total  $ 57,545.36 
 
 
*UGA will disperse all payroll, tax and insurance payments for employees and will bill Fayette 
County monthly for Fayette County’s actual contribution to total. 
 
Please send the bill to the following address: 
Mary Holland Finance Director 
140 Stonewall Avenue West 
Fayetteville, GA 30214 





		Extension Office- Resource Agent Agenda Request File.pdf

		Extension Office- Resource Agent Backup






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Public Works / Road Department Phil Mallon and Staff


Presentation of the monthly update on the County's 2010 Transportation Work Plan by Public Works Director Phil Mallon.


Each month at the Board's Workshop, the Director of Public Works, along with appropriated staff if needed, will present an update of the 


Department's 2010 Transportation Work Plan.  This update will include an overview of the County's road improvement projects, whether 


newly begun, on-going, or planned.  These projects include roadway construction, resurfacing, intersection improvements, signalization, 


and bridge improvements.  Funding for Fayette County's transportation improvements comes from the County's budget, the Georgia 


Department of Transportation, the special purpose local option sales tax (SPLOST) funds, or a combination of these revenue sources.


This is intended to be a monthly update to the Board of Commissioners.  Staff from time to time may need feedback or further direction 


from the Board.


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, October 6, 2010


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ReportWednesday, November 3, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Stormwater Management Vanessa Birrell


Consideration of revisions to Fayette County Development Regulations, Articles V and VII.


Proposed revisions to Fayette County Development Regulations, Articles V and VII, integrate amendments from the revised Subdivision 


Regulations and reflects department reorganization made in early 2009 changing stormwater management and environmental program 


functions from the Public Works Department to the new Stormwater Management Department.  


 


Article V, Nonresidential Landscape Requirements, clarifies when a landscape plan is required, adds wording to reflect current  policies 


that will satisfy green community point requirements and deletes zoning buffer requirements that are referenced in current zoning 


regulations .   


 


Variance  procedures and penalty sections have been added to the Watershed Protection Ordinance.   These two sections mimic the 


current Floodplain Management Ordinance.  Other amendments to this ordinance satisfy Department of Community Affairs environmental 


planning requirements.


Approval to place revisions to Fayette County Development Regulations Articles V and VII on the November 18 Board of Commissioners  


agenda for adoption.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessWednesday, November 3, 2010







 
 


ARTICLE V.  BUFFER AND NON-RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT LANDSCAPE 


REQUIREMENTS 


 


Section 8-156. Introduction 


It is hereby determined that: 


1. Landscaping preserves the aesthetic character of communities, improves the 


aesthetic quality of the built environment, and increases property values. 


2. Trees and landscaping replace vegetative cover lost during land development. 


Vegetation slows soil erosion, helping to reduce nonpoint source pollution found 


in stormwater runoff. 


3. Well-chosen landscaping can improve the compatibility between different types or 


intensities of land uses by providing a visual buffer. 


4. Landscaping visually interrupts the barren expanse of large parking lots and 


provides shade that cools air and surface temperatures helping negate the “heat 


island” effect of paved parking lots.  


Section 8-157. Definitions 
 
Arterial Road.  Defined as Major Arterial or  Minor Arterial in Article III of the Fayette County 


Development Regulations. 


 


Caliper.  A method of measuring the diameter of a tree trunk to determine size, grading, and/or 


classification of nursery stock. Caliper measurement of the trunk shall be taken six inches above 


the ground up to and including four (4)-inch caliper size.  If the caliper at six (6) inches above the 


ground exceeds four (4) inches, the caliper should be measured at 12 inches above the ground. 


 


Collector Road. Defined as collector road in Article III of the Fayette County Development 


Regulations. 


 


Deciduous. Plants that annually lose their leaves. 


 


Evergreen.  Plants that retain foliage throughout the year. 


 


Exterior Parking Aisle.  A parking aisle adjoining  a property line, required landscape area, and/ 


or zoning buffer along a property line. 


 


Groundcover.  A plant with a low-growing, spreading habit, grown specifically to cover the 


ground, generally not attaining a height of more than two(2) feet. 


 


Interior Parking Aisle. A parking aisle that does not adjoin a property line, required zoning  


buffer, or building wall. 







 
 


 


Landscape Island.  A minimum 10 by 20 foot island placed in parking lots to guide traffic, 


preserve vegetation, and increase aesthetic quality.  


 


Landscape Plan. A scaled plan that clearly delineates vehicular use areas and displays and 


describes all landscaping. 


 


Local Road. Defined as County Local or Internal Local in Article III of the Fayette County 


Development Regulations. 


 


Native Plants.  Plants indigenous or naturalized to a given area. 


 


Owner.  The legal or beneficial owner of a site, including but not limited to, a mortgagee or 


vendee in possession, receiver, executor, trustee, lessee or other person, firm or corporation in 


control of the site. 


 


Side-Yard Landscape Area. The landscape area adjacent to a side lot line. 


 


Shrub.  A plant with persistent woody stems and a relatively low growth habit, distinguished from 


a tree by producing several basal stems instead of a single trunk. 


 


Street-Frontage Landscape Area. The landscape area adjacent to street frontage. 


 


Tree. A self-supporting woody perennial plant that, at maturity, has one (1) or more stems or 


trunks that  attain a diameter of at least three (3) inches;  a more or less definitely formed crown 


of foliage; and a height of 10 feet or more. 


 


Zoning Buffer. Defined by the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance. 


 


Section 8-158. General Provisions 


(a) Purpose and Intent  The purpose of this ordinance is to establish minimum 


requirements for landscape areas and buffers in Fayette County. ‘s commercial, 


industrial, office-institutional (including churches), and multi-family zoning districts.  


Said requirements are designed to:  


This ordinance seeks to meet that purpose through the following objectives: 


1. Improve the appearance of Fayette County’s non-residential properties commercial 


and industrial corridors;  


2. Minimize noise, glare, and erosion;  


3. Provide a visual separation between incompatible uses; and 


4. Establish measures for water conservation; and, 


5. Reduce the adverse environmental effects of impervious parking areas. 







 
 


E.g., in a C-C, C-H, M-1 and M-2 Zoning District where a lot abuts any residential or A-


R Zoning District, a buffer shall be provided as specified in the following sections of the 


Fayette County Zoning Ordinance:  6-14 (D)(6) for C-C; 6-15 (D)(6) for C-H; 6-17(D)(6) 


for M-1 and 6-18(D)(6) for M-2.  Off street parking associated with such uses shall be 


governed by such requirements within these Development Regulations. 


 


(b) Applicability. This ordinance shall be applicable to all non-residential zoning districts; 


all non-residential uses allowed within residential zoning districts; and all existing 


non-paved parking areas that are to be developed into paved parking areas. 


 


(c) Exemptions: Existing parking areas where additional parking spaces are not required.  


 


(d) Designation of Ordinance. Administrator: The Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department shall administer this ordinance.  


 


(e) Compatibility with Other Regulations. This ordinance is not intended to modify or 


repeal any other ordinance, rule, regulation, statute, easement, covenant, deed 


restriction or other provision of law.  The requirements of this ordinance are in 


addition to the requirements of any other ordinance, rule, regulation or toher 


provision of law, and where any provision of this ordinance imposes restrictions 


different from thos imposed by any other ordinance, rule, regulation or other provision 


of law, whichever provision is more restrictive or impose higher protective standards 


for human health or the environmental shall control. 


 


(f) Severability.  If the provisions of any section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision or 


clause of this ordinance shall be adjudged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 


such judgment shall not affect or invalidate the remainder of any section, subsection, 


paragraph, subdivision or clause of this ordinance. 


 


(g) Effective Date: December 25, 2010 


 


(h) Technical Standards.  Standards for plant selection and installation listed below are 


incorporated by reference: 


1. “American Standard for Nursery Stock”  (ANSI Z60.1-2004) 


2. “Manual for Woody Landscape Plants”  (Michael Dirr, 2009, Stipes)” 


3. Principles and Practices of Planting Trees and Shrubs”( Watson and Himelick, 


1997, ISA)  


Section 8-159. Landscape and Buffer Categories. Landscape Requirements 


And Submittals 
 







 
 


(a) Submittals: Unless specifically exempted by this ordinance, any owner or developer 


proposing any land development activity as defined in Sec. 8-157.b, above, shall submit 


a Landscape Plan with the Grading Plan to the Stormwater Management Department.  


1. The Stormwater Management Department shall have a maximum of 14 calendar 


days from the submittal date, or each re-submittal date, for  plan review. If the 


plan is not approved a deficiency checklist will be submitted back to the applicant. 


2. Any deviations from the approved Landscape Plan must be approved by the Fayette 


County Stormwater Management Department prior to installation. 


3. A final  inspection and approval by the Fayette County Stormwater Management 


Department is required prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 


4. Trees shall have a minimum caliper requirements.  


5. No Plants with vigorous root systems shall not be planted within the drip line 


area of said plant next to any nitrification field, sanitary sewer, or public water 


easement.  Such plants includeing but not limited to the following:Eastern 


Cottonwood,Willow, and Lombardy Poplar. 


6. Allow at least 200 square feet of contiguous soil space per overstory tree. 


7. No parking space shall be more than 40 feet from a tree. 


8. Groundcovers, flowers, stones, and mulch shall be utilized as needed to meet 


vegetative ground cover requirements. 


(b) Landscape Plan Requirements.  At a minimum, The Landscape Plan shall include: 


1. Project name and design professional’s name, and telephone number contact 


information. 


2. The Property boundary lines of the property and, all zoning buffer and landscape 


areas, and entire septic systems. 


3. Locations of existing plant materials to be retained and/or new plant materials to be 


installed, with all details drawn at a scale of one (1) inch to 100 feet or greater. 


4. A plant material list, which that shall include: 


a. Common and/or botanical names of all proposed plants; 


b. Plant quantities; 


c. Spacing; 







 
 


d. Remarks, as necessary, to proper plant selection upon installation; and, 


e. S Caliper , height,  size and condition of plants.  


• Trees shall have a minimum caliper of two and one-half inches (2 ½”)  


measured at six inches (6”) above ground at time of planting.  


f. Buffers and landscape areas fronting on County maintained roads shall be 


measured from  the right-of-way. 


g. All zoning buffers shall be labeled as “Zoning Buffer” on Landscape Plan. 


h. There will be at least 200 square feet of contiguous soil space per overstory tree. 


i. No parking space shall be more than 40 feet from a tree. 


j. All disturbed areas not otherwise addressed in this Ordinance shall have a 


vegetative ground cover for erosion control purposes. 


k. Groundcovers, flowers, stones, and mulch shall be utilized as needed to meet 


coverage requirements. 







 
 


Section 8-160. Landscape And Buffer Categories 
(a) Street Frontage Landscape Areas. Landscape areas fronting on county maintained 


roads shall be measured from  the right-of-way, or from where county maintenances 


stops on prescriptive easements. A landscape area shall be established along the rights of 


way of adjoining streets. as specified under this Article.  A developer or property owner 


may substitute a planted buffer (greenbelt) as specified under this Article in lieu of a 


landscape area. Trees/shrubs may be planted in groups provided that the required 


number of trees/shrubs are distributed along the entire length of the area to be 


landscaped. 


(b) Parking Lot Landscape Areas.  Off-street parking lots shall be landscaped in accordance 


with this Article.  Landscape strips areas shall be provided for every other interior 


parking aisle. Exterior and interior parking aisles shall be terminated at both ends by a 


landscape island (three (3) 10 feet in width by 20 feet in length, typical).  Landscape 


islands shall be provided for each 150 feet of continuous bay parking length.  


(c) Side-Yard Landscape Areas. A landscape area shall be established along the side 


property lines of all lots as specified under this Article.  A developer or property owner 


may substitute a planted buffer (greenbelt) as specified under this section in lieu of a 


landscape area.  However, where a side yard buffer is required pursuant to other 


provisions of this Ordinance, A side-yard landscape area may not be substituted 


therefore. when a zoning buffer landscape area is required.   


(d) Zoning Buffer Areas (Greenbelt).  Zoning buffer areas required by this Ordinance shall 


be established and maintained by the property owner subject to the requirements listed 


below and those specified under this Article. 


1. Buffer areas may shall include hardwood or perennial deciduous  and evergreen 


plant materials shall be planted and staggered double rows.  Although it is not 


required that buffer areas be totally planted, such These areas must provide consist of 


an evergreen screen for the purpose of providing visual privacy. from the ground to 


a height of four (4) feet upon planting. If existing vegetation is requested to count 


toward the Zoning Buffer Area landscaping requirements, all such information, 


including location, size, and type of vegetation shall be indicated on the landscape 


plan.  or supplemental planting, and when so planted must include evergreen trees 


which will provide at least 60% evergreen crown cover within three (3) years, 


assuming normal weather conditions.  Where required buffers adjoin undeveloped 


property, the Zoning Administrator may specify less mature plantings than those 


specified above. 


2. Listed below are suggested evergreen plant combinations characteristic of buffer area 


plantings.  New undercanopy  shrubs required in buffer areas shall provide a visual 


screen to a minimum height of four (4) feet upon planting, singularly or in 


combination with various plant types. Additional plant choices can be found at the 


Fayette County Engineer Stormwater Management Department’s website. 


 


  Trees   Shrubs   Groundcovers 


 







 
 


  Virginia Pine  Southern Waxmyrtle  Liriope  


Red Cedar  Burfordi Holly   Euonymus 


  Nellie R.  Cleyera   Wintercreeper 


  Stevens Holly  Abelia    Asiatic Jasmine 


  Cryptomeria  Pfitzer Juniper        


  Lusterleaf Holly Hetzi Juniper   Creeping Raspberry 


  Loblolly Pine  Cherry Laurel   Vinca    


  Evergreen Dogwood Leucothoe   Mondo Grass 


  Laurel Oak  Pragense Viburnum  Asiatic Jasmine  


  Chinese Evergreen  Wax Myrtle   Evergreen Ferns  


     Oak      Osmanthus    


  Leyland Cypress Wax Myrtle    


  Green Giant  Loropetalum 


  Arborbvitae  Yaupon Holly 


  Osmanthus 


Western  


Red Cedar 


  Southern Magnolia     


  Eastern Red Cedar 


    


 


Table 1. Landscape And Buffer Requirements. 


 
TYPE SIZE OF AREA TO BE 


LANDSCAPED  


REQUIRED TREES* 


Number                   Height 
REQUIRED SHRUBS 


Number                   Height 


Street 


Frontage 


Arterials:        20’ 


Collectors:      15’ 


Locals:            10’ 


1 per 20’ 


1 per 20’ 


1 per 20’ 


10’ 
10’ 


10’ 


7 per tree 


7 per tree 


7 per tree 


2’ 


2’ 


2’ 


      
Exterior            


Aisles              10’ 


1 per 30’ 6’ 5 per tree 2’ 


Interior 


Aisles                 7’ 


1 per 30’ 6’ 5 per tree  2’ 


Buildings or Walls                  5’ 


(Excluding walls not visible from 


the street) 


  5 per 25 linear feet 


of building wall.


  


2’ 


Landscape Islands  3’   10’ x 20’ 1 per island 6’ 5 per island 2’ 


Parking 


Lot 


     


Side Yard Side Property Lines   6’ 1 per 40’ 6’ 3 per tree 2’ 


O-I:    20’ 


 


1 per 10’ 6’ 


 


4’ 


C-C, C-H, 


 L-B:    30’ 
1 per 10’ 6’ 


 


4’ 


L-I    50’ 1 per 10’ 6’ 


 


4’ 


Zoning 


Buffer 


(Greenbelt) 


M-1, M-2   75’ 1 per 10’ 6’ 


 


As needed to 


provide visual 


screen 


4’ 







 
 


SEE APPLICABLE  ZONING 


DISTRICT REGULATIONS FOR 


BUFFER WIDTH 


REQUIREMENTS 


   


*Trees shall be distributed along the entire length of the area to be landscaped. 


 (ORD. No. 98-01, § 1, 1-14-98)  


: Sec. 8-160.  Other Requirements 


 


B.  Grass coverage shall not exceed 25 percent (25%) of required street frontage, parking lot, 


and side yard landscape areas. 


 


F.  Buffers are required where property adjoins residential or A-R Zoning Districts.  


Evergreen trees are required in required buffers.  Berms, and/or opaque fences may be 


used to supplement required buffers.  Existing vegetation shall not be removed. 


 


Section 8-161. Xeriscape Requirements and Planting Materials. 


(a) Xeriscape Requirements.  All street frontage, parking lot, and side yard landscape areas 


shall be planted with water-conserving groundcover and vegetation.  Other conservation 


xeriscape measures are encouraged, including: 


 


1.  Irrigation systems which are electronically set for night and/or early morning 


irrigation; 


 


2.  Designs which collect and recycle water and minimize overspray onto non-


landscaped areas to avoid wasting water. 


 


Section 8-162. Suggested Planting Materials. 
Native Plants 


 


 Trees    Small Shrubs   Large Shrubs 


     (1-8 feet)   (8ft. & up) 


 Redbud   Sweet Shrub   Oakleaf Hydrangea 


 Dogwood   Flame Azalea   Yaupon Holly 


 Red Maple   Florida Azalea   Spanish Dagger Yucca 


 Sugar Maple   Yucca    Bottlebrush Buckeye 


 Southern Magnolia  Virgina Sweetspire  Devilwood Osmanthus 


 Fringe Tree   Dwarf Yaupon Holly  Southern Wax Myrtle 


 Overcup Oak   Inkberry Holly   Small Anise-Tree 


 Bald Cypress   Clethra    Cherry Laurel 


 Tulip Poplar   Deciduous Holly 


 Willow Oak 


 River Birch 


 Swamp Chestnut Oak 


 Nuttal Oak 


 Serviceberry 







 
 


 Bigleaf Magnolia 


 Blackgum 


 Georgia Gem Ash 


 American Hornbeam 


 American Beech 


 Carolina Silverbell 


 


 Groundcovers     Vines 


 Liriope      Carolina Yellow Jessamine 


 Creeping Liriope    Swamp Jessamine 


 Daylilly     Crossvine 


 Mondo Grass     Trumpet Honeysuckle 


 Native Ferns     Climbing Hydrangea 


 Miscanthus      


 Penisetum 


  


Other Suitable Plants 


 


Trees  Shrubs Perennials and Groundcovers 


  


 Sycamore Abelia Daylilly 


 Trident Maple Holly  Rudbeckia 


 Crape Myrtle Japanese Barberry Coneflower 


 Winged Elm Beautyberry Yarrow 


 Chinese Pistache Juniper Sedum 


 Shumard Oak Indian Hawthorn Daisy 


 Red Oak Spirea Asiatic Jasmine 


 Lacebark Elm Knock Out Rose Liriope 


 Japanese Zelkova Viburnum Mondo Grass 


 Western Red Cedar Osmanthus Vinca 


 Okame or Yoshino Cherry Loropetulum St. Johnswort 


 Chinese Flame Tree Forsythia 


 Sawtooth Oak 


 Saucer Magnolia 


 Dawn Redwood 


 Chaste Tree 


 


(a) In addition to those listed above, acceptable plant choices can be found at the Fayette 


County Engineering Stormwater Management Department’s website. 


 







 
 


Section 8-163. Prohibited Plants.   


Section 8-164. Performance Surety. 


(a) No occupancy permit shall be issued prior to complying with the specifications of this 


Ordinance and all conditions of zoning. 


(b) Landscape Performance Surety.  In the event that the requirements of this Article 


Ordinance have not been met at the time that a Certificate of Occupancy could otherwise 


be granted, the owner or his agent shall post a Landscape Performance Bond or other 


County approved surety in an amount equal to 110 percent of the cost of materials, labor, 


and other attendant costs, incidental to the installation of the required landscaping. Said 


surety shall: 


1. Be drawn in favor of the Board of Commissioners, 


2. Be in a form satisfactory to the County Attorney. 


3. Specify the time for the completion of the landscaping requirements of this Article 


Ordinance which shall not be longer than six (6) months following the issuance of a 


temporary Certificate of Occupancy. 


Section 8-165.   General Maintenance.  Plants required pursuant to the provisions of this 


Ordinance shall be attractively maintained.  All dead and/or diseased plants shall be 


replaced annually as a condition of occupancy. 


 


Section 8-166. Sec.  8-167 - 8-175.  Reserved. 
 
  Section III.  If any part of this Ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the judgment 


of any court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect the remainder of this 


enactment, and such remainder of this enactment shall remain in full force and effect. 


  Section IV.  All laws, ordinances, and resolutions, or parts thereof, which conflict with the 


provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 


 


  Section V.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon its approval by the Board of 


Commissioners. 


SO ORDAINED, this 25
th


 day of September, 2008. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 1 - 


 


ARTICLE VII.  WATERSHED PROTECTION ORDINANCE 


 


Section 8-201. Introduction 


It is hereby determined that buffers adjacent to streams provide numerous benefits including: 


1. Protecting, restoring and maintaining the chemical, physical and biological 


integrity of streams and their water resources, 


2. Removing pollutants delivered in urban stormwater, 


3. Reducing erosion and controlling sedimentation, 


4. Protecting and stabilizing stream banks, 


5. Providing for infiltration of stormwater runoff, 


6. Maintaining base flow of streams, 


7. Contributing organic matter that is a source of food and energy for the aquatic 


ecosystem, 


8. Providing tree canopy to shade streams and promote desirable aquatic habitat, 


9. Providing riparian wildlife habitat, 


10. Furnishing scenic value and recreational opportunity; and, 


11. Providing opportunities for the protection and restoration of greenspace. 


Therefore, Fayette County establishes watershed protection policies where watershed protection areas 


are hereby to identifiedy, classifiedy, and regulated watershed protection areas for the purpose of 


insuring the preservation and improvement of water quality and for complying with laws of the State of 


Georgia pursuant to O.C.G.A. 12-2-8. 


Section 8-202. Definitions 
 


The following definitions shall be utilized in the administration of the Watershed Protection Ordinance. 


 


Base Flood.  The flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 


given year, also known as the 100-year flood. 


 


Base Flood Elevation. The highest water surface elevation anticipated at any given point 


during the base flood. 
Canopy Tree.  Any tree having reached a relatively tall height compared to surrounding trees 


and vegetation and providing shade and protection to the earth and vegetation beneath it from 


its foliage mass; also individual or tree groups forming an overhead cover.  Examples include 


oak, red maple, hickory, beech, pecan, sycamore, sweetgum, poplar, ash, river birch, long leaf 


pine, and loblolly pine and Virginia pine trees. 


 


Flood Hazard Area.  The area possibly threatened by periodic flooding as determined by 


various date, e.g. maps provided by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 2 - 


Development, United States Soil Conservation Service, Army Corps of Engineers, or 


hydrologic studies utilizing generally accepted engineering practices.  Flood hazard areas shall 


include all lands underneath a permanent body of water, e.g. a lake, pond, river, and stream, 


and all land within the limits of a flood having a 100-year return frequency. 


 


Ground Cover.  Natural plant material such as vines, shrubs, or grasses which would not 


normally A plant with a low-growing, spreading habit, grown specifically to cover the 


ground, generally not attaining a height of more than two (2) feet.  


 


Impervious Surface.  The area where a man-made structure or surface which prevents the 


infiltration of storm water into the ground below the structure and/or surface. Examples 


areinclude buildings, paved roads, paved driveways, paved parking lots, swimming pools, or 


patios. 


 


Large Water Supply Watershed. A watershed area which is greater than 100 square miles as 


defined by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division. 


 


Natural Vegetation.  Natural vegetation shall connote is a generally undisturbed, maintenance-


free, self-perpetuating stand of vegetation comprised of indigenous shrubs, flowers, wild 


grasses, and trees. 


 


Nitrification Field.  A nitrification field shall be defined as any system area used for the on-


site disposal of wastewater. 


 


Pollutant.Any substance, as certain chemicals or waste products, thatrenders the air, soil, wa


ter, or other natural resource harmful or unsuitable. 
 


Reservoir.  A reservoir shall be an existing or future impoundment of water for water supply 


purposes as identified by Resolution of the Fayette County Board of Commissioners. 


 


Shrub.  A plant with persistent woody stems and a relatively low growth habit, distinguished 


from a tree by producing several basal stems instead of a single trunk. 
 


Small Water Supply Watershed. A watershed area which is less than 100 square miles as 


defined by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division. 


 


State Water.  Any and all rivers, streams, creeks, branches, lakes, reservoirs, ponds, drainage 


systems, springs, wells, and other water bodies of surface or subsurface water, natural or 


artificial, lying within or forming a part of the boundaries of the state which that are not 


entirely confined and retained completely upon the property of a single individual, home 


owners association, partnership, or corporation.  (Amended June 9, 2005) 


 


Stream Bank. The uppermost part of the bank marked by a break in slope (as defined by the 


Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division). A sStream bank 


is not necessarily the water’s edge. 


 


 Tree.  Tree. A self-supporting woody perennial plant that, at maturity, has one (1) or 


 more stems or trunks that  attain a diameter of at least three (3) inches;  a more or less 


 definitely formed crown of foliage; and a height of 10 feet or more. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 3 - 


 


 


Tributaries and Streams.  Tributaries and streams, State waters, whether named or unnamed, 


that continuously flow to major water supply streams. 


 


Utility.  A public or private water or sewer piping systems, water or sewer pumping stations, 


electric power lines, fuel pipelines, telephone lines, roads, driveways, bridges, river/lake access 


facilities, storm water systems and railroads or other utilities identified by a local government. 


 
Understory Tree.  Any tree, which is of relatively lesser height and spread than surrounding 


canopy trees, but still provides shade and a degree of protection to the earth and vegetation 


beneath it.  Examples include dogwood, cherry, red bud, sassafras, crabapple, pear, American 


holly, red cedar, and magnolia trees. 


 


Water Supply Reservoir.  A governmentally-owned impoundment of water for the primary 


purpose of providing water to one or more governmentally owned public drinking water 


systems. This excludes the multipurpose reservoirs owned by the U.S. Army Corps of 


Engineers. 


 


Water Supply Watershed.  The area of land upstream of a governmentally-owned public 


drinking water intake.  


 
Natural Watershed Buffer.  A portion The area of a parcel which shall be set aside to provide 


a separation between the use(s) on the parcel and adjoining parcels or uses or and a stream state 


waters requiring a buffer through the use of natural vegetation, replanting, and supplemental 


plantings.   


 


Watershed Setback.  The area of a parcel where all structures, septic tanks, nitrification 


fields and any impervious surfaces shall be prohibited.  Grading, filling and earthmoving 


shall be minimized within the setback.  


 


Wrested Vegetation.  Wrested vegetation is vegetation that has been disturbed, moved, or 


removed by flowing water creating a clear demarcation between water flow and vegetative 


growth.. 
 


 


Section 8-203. General Provisions 


(a) Purpose and Intent.  It is the propose of this Ordinance is to help ensure the public health, 


safety, environment, and general welfare; to minimize public and private losses due to 


erosion, siltation and water pollution; to preserve stream water quality; and to comply with 


the laws of the Sate of Georgia by provisions designed to: 


1. Create buffers and setbacks along state waters in Fayette County for stream bank 


stabilization, water resource protection, and protection of aquatic and riparian habitat. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 4 - 


2. Minimize land development within such buffers and setbacks by limiting development 


activities within these protected areas and by requiring authorization for any such 


activities.  


(b) Applicability.  The following large and small water supply watersheds, and designated major 


water supply streams, named tributaries, minor unnamed streams, and waters requiring a 


state buffer located in and out of the large and small water supply watersheds shall be 


governed by this Article Ordinance.  This Ordinance shall be applicable to any parcel 


within unincorporated Fayette County that has been created/reconfigured after May 28
th


, 


1987, unless it is a minor revision to a Recorded Final Plat/Minor Subdivision Plat as 


defined in Article XIII of the Fayette County Developmental Regulations.   


(c) Designation of Ordinance Administrator.  The Stormwater Management Director shall 


administer and implement the provisions of this ordinance.  


(d) Compatibility with Other Regulations.  This ordinance is not intended to modify or repeal 


any other ordinance, rule, regulation, statute, easement, covenant, deed restriction or other 


provision of law.  The requirements of this ordinance are in addition to the requirements of 


any other ordinance, rule, regulation or other provision of law, and where any provision of 


this ordinance imposes restrictions different from those imposed by any other ordinance, 


rule, regulation or other provision of law, whichever provision is more restrictive or impose 


higher protective standards for human health or the environment shall control. 


(e) Severability.  If the provisions of any section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision or clause 


of this ordinance shall be adjudged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 


judgment shall not affect or invalidate the remainder of any section, subsection, 


paragraph, subdivision or clause of this ordinance. 


(f) Watershed Buffer/Setback Access. Vegetation within a watershed buffer/setback area shall 


not be disturbed except for access and utilities approved by The Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department.   
 


A. Large Water Supply Watersheds:   Fayette County contains one (1) large water supply 


watershed as indicated on the map, Large and Small Water Supply Watersheds in Fayette 


County; the Flint River where intakes for Fayette County, Clayton County and the City of 


Griffin are located. This water supply watershed does not contain a reservoir.    


(g) Small Water Supply Watersheds:  Fayette County contains one (1) large water supply 


watershed and four (4) small water supply watersheds as indicated on the Fayette County 


Watershed Protection Map, Large and Small Water Supply Watersheds in Fayette County.    


 


1. The Flint River is the only large water supply watershed in Fayette County where 


intakes for Fayette County, Clayton County and the City of Griffin are located. This 


water supply watershed does not contain a reservoir.    


2. The four (4) small water supply watersheds are:       


 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 5 - 


a. Line Creek Watershed where Fayette County and Coweta County intakes are 


located.  This water supply watershed is the location of the proposed Lake 


McIntosh (a water supply reservoir); 


 


b. Flat Creek Watershed where a Fayette County intake is located.  Flat Creek is a 


named tributary which that flows into Lake Kedron and then into Lake Peachtree 


(both are water supply reservoirs); 


 


c. Whitewater Creek Watershed where Fayette County and the City of Fayetteville 


intakes are located.  This water supply watershed does not contain a reservoir; and 


d. Horton Creek Watershed where a Fayette County intake is located.  Antioch Creek 


and Woolsey Creek are named tributaries that flow into Lake Horton (a water 


supply reservoir). 


 


C. Designated major water supply streams. 


 


1. Antioch Creek 


 


2. Flat Creek 


 


3. Flint River 


 


4. Horton Creek 


 


5. Line Creek 


 


6. Whitewater Creek 


 


7. Woolsey Creek 


 


 


D. The following named tributaries to water supply streams are as follows: 


 


1. Broadnax Creek 


 


2. Gay Creek 


 


3. Gin Branch 


 


4. Gingercake Creek 


 


5. Haddock Creek 


 


6. Morning Creek 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 6 - 


7. Murphy Creek 


 


8. Nash Creek 


 


9. North Camp Creek 


 


10. Pelham Creek 


 


11. Perry Creek 


 


12. Sandy Creek 


 


13. Shoal Creek 


 


14. South Camp Creek 


 


15. Tar Creek 


 


16. Trickum Creek 


 


E. Any and all minor unnamed streams which are indicated as perennial on the 1963 (Photo 


Revised 1982) U.S.G.S. Quad Sheets. 


 


F. State Waters 


 


(h) State Waters Determination. For purposes of this ordinance, the Stormwater Management 


Department shall make state and water determinations, but will not delineate said waters.  


Recorded drainage easements and ditches/swales used for conveying wet-weather flows (i.e., 


no base flow) shall not require a watershed buffer. 


Restrictions. Minumum Watershed Protection Requirements. The following watershed 


buffer and setback requirements  restrictions shall be required apply to Large Water Supply 


Watersheds, Small Water Supply Watersheds and All Areas Outside of the Large and Small 


Water Supply Watersheds all state waters requiring a buffer within unincorporated Fayette 


County.  


No sewage treatment facility, dumping, discharging, releasing, spraying, distributing of any 


toxic or other pollutant is allowed onto the watershed buffer and setback. 
  


Watershed buffer areas may be hand thinned or hand trimmed of vegetation in accordance 


with the Fayette County Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance. 


Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural watershed buffer and 


setback.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette County Erosion and 


Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, Development Regulations) and Flood Plain 


Regulations (Article IV, Development Regulations). 


The watershed buffer shall only constitute 50 percent of a livestock containment area.  







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 7 - 


The watershed buffer shall only extend for 1,000 feet from the wrested vegetation of state 


waters requiring a buffer. If the watershed buffer exceeds the said 1,000 feet then the 1,000 


feet will become the watershed buffer and a watershed setback will not be applied. 


For (c), (d) and (e) only the natural watershed buffer shall may be reduced to 100 feet as 


measured from the stream bank, for activities that do not require grubbing or tilling, such as 


tree harvesting with no without stump removal, if and only if, a copy of documentation 


submitted to Forestry Commission is submitted to Fayette County Stormwater Management 


prior to requesting a reduction in the watershed buffer.  


 


(a) The following shall apply to any property within 1,000 feet of a reservoir: 
 


1. Permitted residential use: 


 


a. Minimum lot size – Three (3) acres 


a. No multi-family residential or manufactured home park allowed. 


2. Minimum natural watershed buffer 150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation 


or the natural buffer shall be considered the 100-year flood plain base flood elevation, 


whichever is greater. 


 


a. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces - 


150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation or the setback shall be 


considered the 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater . 


 


 


3. Permitted agricultural use: 


 


a. Minimum natural watershed buffer and watershed setback - 150 feet as measured 


from the normal pool elevation or the natural buffer shall be considered the 100-


year flood plain base flood elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum watershed setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation or the setback shall 


be considered the 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


4. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) or livestock allowed in 


the natural watershed buffer. 


 


5. Commercial - no commercial structures or use of any nature. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 8 - 


 


6. Industrial - no industrial structures or use of any nature. 


 


7. Permitted recreational : 


 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation or 


the natural buffer shall be considered the 100-year flood plain  elevation, 


whichever is greater. 


 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces - 


150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation or the setback shall be 


considered the 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


 


c. Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural buffer and 


setback.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette County Erosion and 


Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, Development Regulations) and 


Flood Plain Regulations (Article IV, Development Regulations). 


 


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) allowed in the 


natural buffer. 


 


(b) Other areas within a  reservoir drainage basin including major water supply streams, tributaries, 


and minor streams shall be regulated as follows:  The following shall apply to Antioch Creek, 


Flat Creek, Gin Branch, Haddock Creek, Horton Creek, Line Creek, Trickum Creek, and 


Woolsey Creek located within Lake Horton, Lake Kedron/Lake Peachtree and Line Creek 


Reservoirs watersheds:  
 


1. Permitted residential use: 


 


a. Minimum lot size per zoning district. 


 


b. No multi-family residential or manufactured home park allowed. 


 


c. Minimum natural watershed buffer is100 feet as measured from the stream bank 


wrested vegetation. 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 9 - 


d. Minimum watershed setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces is 150 feet as measured from the stream bank buffer. 


 


2. Permitted agricultural use: 


 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank. 


 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces - 


150 feet as measured from the stream bank. 


 


c. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) or livestock 


allowed in the natural buffer. 


 


3. Permitted commercial use: 


a. Minimum lot size – Two (2) acres 


b. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank. 


c. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces - 


150 feet as measured from the stream bank. 


4. Permitted industrial use: 


a. Minimum lot size – Five (5) acres  


b. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank 


c. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces - 


150 feet as measured from the stream bank 


5. Permitted recreational : 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 150 feet as measured from the stream bank 


c. Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural 


buffer and setback.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette 


County Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, 


Development Regulations) and Flood Plain Regulations (Article IV, 


Development Regulations). 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 10 - 


(c) If a reservoir is not constructed on or adjacent to a major water supply stream, The 


following shall apply to the Flint River, Whitewater Creek and all state waters 


requiring a watershed buffer within 1,000 feet of a major water supply the above 


named streams: 


 


1. Permitted residential and commercial use: 


a. Minimum Natural watershed Buffer is 400 feet as measured from the stream 


bank wrested vegetation or is 100 feet from the 100-year flood plain base 


flood elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum lot size - residential - per zoning ordinance and commercial: two (2) 


acres.  


c. Minimum watershed setback for all structures, nitrification fields and 


impervious surfaces - 450 feet as measured from the stream bank or 150 feet 


from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater is 50 feet as 


measured from the buffer. 


2. No industrial, multi-family residential, or manufactured home park uses shall be 


permitted. 


3. Permitted agricultural use: 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 400 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 450 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-


year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. The natural buffer shall be reduced to 100 feet as measured from the stream 


bank, for activities that do not require grubbing or tilling, such as tree 


harvesting with no stump removal.  


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) or livestock 


allowed in the natural buffer. 


4. Permitted recreational : 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 400 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 100-year flood plain   elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 450 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-


year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural 


buffer.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette County Erosion 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 11 - 


and Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, Development Regulations) 


and the Flood Plain Regulations (Article IV, Development Regulations). 


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) allowed in 


the buffer, natural or undisturbed. 


(d) If a reservoir is not constructed on or adjacent to a major water supply stream, The 


following shall apply to Ginger Cake Creek, Pelham Creek, Perry Creek, South 


Camp Creek, Sandy Creek, Shoal Creek, Tar Creek, and Whitewater Creek within 


the Whitewater Creek Watershed; Gay Creek, Morning Creek, Murphy Creek, North 


Camp Creek, and Nash Creek, within the Flint River Watershed; and all other state 
waters requiring a buffer named within 1000 feet of the above named streams: 


 


1. Permitted residential use: 


a. Minimum lot size per zoning district.  


b. Minimum natural watershed buffer - 200 feet as measured from the stream 


bank  from wrested vegetation or 100 feet from 100-year flood plain base 


flood elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Minimum watershed setback for all structures, nitrification fields and 


impervious surfaces - 250 feet as measured from the stream bank  from 


wrested vegetation or 150 feet from 100-year flood plain base flood elevation, 


whichever is greater. 50 feet as measured from the buffer. 


d. No multi-family residential or manufactured home park  allowed. 


 


2. Permitted commercial use: 


a. Minimum lot size - two (2) acres 


b. Minimum natural buffer - 200 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 1100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces 


- 250 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-year flood 


plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


 


3. Permitted industrial : 


a. Minimum lot size - five (5) acres 


b. Minimum natural buffer - 200 feet   as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 12 - 


c. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surfaces 


- 250 feet  as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-year flood 


plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


4. Permitted agricultural : 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 200 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 250 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-


year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. The natural buffer shall be reduced to 100 feet, as measured from the stream 


bank  for activities that do not require grubbing or tilling, such as tree 


harvesting with no stump removal.   


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) or livestock 


allowed in the natural buffer. 


5. Permitted recreational use: 


 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 200 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 250 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 150 feet from 100-


year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural 


buffer.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette County Erosion 


and Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, Development Regulations) 


and Flood Plain Regulations (Article IV, Development Regulations). 


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) allowed in 


the natural buffer. 


 


(e) If a reservoir is not constructed on or adjacent to a major water supply stream, The 


following shall apply to all other minor perennial streams within the Flint River 


Watershed, the Whitewater Creek Watershed and all state waters requiring a buffer 
within 1,000 feet of a these minor perennial streams. 


 


1. Permitted residential, industrial, or commercial use: 


a. Minimum lot size: Residential -  per zoning ordinance; commercial: two - 


two (2) acres; industrial - five (5) acres. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 13 - 


b. Minimum natural watershed buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream 


bank  from wrested vegetation or 50 feet from 100-year flood plain 


elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Minimum watershed setback for all structures, nitrification fields and 


impervious surfaces - 150 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 feet 


from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. is 50 feet as 


measured from the buffer. 


d. No multi-family residential or manufactured home park allowed. 


2. Permitted agricultural use: 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 50 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious surface 


- 150 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 feet from 100-year flood 


plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. The natural buffer shall be reduced to 100 feet as measured from the stream 


bank  for activities that do not require grubbing or tilling, such as tree 


harvesting with no stump removal..  


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) or livestock 


allowed in the natural buffer. 


3. Permitted recreational use: 


a. Minimum natural buffer - 100 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 50 


feet from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


b. Minimum setback for all structures, nitrification fields and impervious 


surfaces - 150 feet as measured from the stream bank  or 100 feet from 100-


year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. 


c. Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural 


buffer.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Fayette County Erosion 


and Sedimentation Control Ordinance (Article IX, Development Regulations) 


and the Flood Plain Regulations (Article IV, Development Regulations). 


d. No chemical treatment (herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers, or paint) allowed in 


the natural buffer. 


(f) All state waters requiring a buffer not otherwise protected by Section 208(a)-(e) of 


this ordinance shall meet the following requirements. 
 


1. An undisturbed natural A minimum watershed vegetative buffer shall be 


maintained for 50 feet  The buffer applies to both sides of the stream bank and 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 14 - 


shall be measured horizontally from the top of the stream bank from wrested 


vegetation measured horizontally from both side of the stream.   


2. A watershed setback shall be maintained for the 75 feet is 25 feet as measured 


from the buffer. in which all impervious cover shall be prohibited, and grading, 


filling, and earthmoving shall be minimized.  The setback applies to both sides of 


the stream and shall be measured horizontally from the top of the stream bank . 


3.  No septic tanks or septic tank drain fields shall be permitted within the buffer or 


setback.  


4. This section of the ordinance shall not apply to the following activities: 


a. Agricultural operation as defined in Section 8-243(5) of Fayette County’s 


Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance; and 


b. Forestry land management practices as defines in Section 8-243(6) of 


Fayette County’s Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance. 


(g) The following restrictions shall apply specifically to Large Water Supply Watersheds 


as identified in the ordinance: 


 


New facilities located within seven (7) miles of a water supply intake or 


water supply reservoir, which handle hazardous materials of the types 


listed in Section 312 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 


1976 (excluding underground storage tanks) in amounts of 10,000 


pounds on any one (1) day or more, shall perform their operations on 


impervious surfaces and in conformance with any applicable federal spill 


prevention requirements or requirements of the Standard Fire Code.  and 


amounts determined by the Department of Natural Resources, shall 


perform their operations on impermeable surfaces having spill and 


leak collection systems as prescribed by the Department of Natural 


Resources.   


(h) The following restrictions shall apply specifically to Small Water Supply Watersheds 


as identified in the ordinance: 


 


1. New facilities located within seven (7) miles of a water supply intake or water 


supply reservoir, which handle hazardous materials of the types listed in Section 


312 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (excluding 


underground storage tanks) in amounts of 10,000 pounds on any one (1) day or 


more, shall perform their operations on impervious surfaces and in conformance 


with any applicable federal spill prevention requirements or requirements of the 


Standard Fire Code. and amounts determined by the Department of Natural 


Resources, shall perform their operations on impermeable surface having spill 


and leak collection systems as prescribed by the Department of Natural 


Resources.   


 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 15 - 


2. New landfills must be lined with a synthetic material and have a leachate 


collection system. 


3. The impervious surface area, including all public and private structures, utilities, 


or facilities, of the entire water supply watershed shall be limited to 25% percent, 


or existing use, whichever is greater. 


4. New hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities are prohibited. 


Section 8-204. Other Water Quality Considerations. 


(a) Owner Responsibility. It shall be the responsibility of every owner, developer or 


builder to present required plans and to comply with Article IX. 


(b) Conflicting Requirements. Whenever the zoning district regulations, including lot size 


requirements, are more restrictive than those contained in this Article, the more 


restrictive provisions shall prevail. 


(c) Nonresidential Requirements. Nonresidential developments may be required to 


install any or all of, but not limited to, the following devices: 


1. Oil-water separators 


2. Grease traps 


3. Pre-settling basins 


 


(d) No agricultural or recreational activity that does not strictly comply with Georgia 


Pesticide Act of 1976, Georgia Pesticide Use and Application Act of 1976, and Georgia 


Laws 1982, House Bill 1780 (O.C.G.A. Section 2-1-4) as amended, or with any and all 


other laws of the State of Georgia, will be allowed. 


Section 8-205. Natural Watershed Buffer Protection and Replacement.  Vegetation within a 


natural watershed buffer, as defined in this Ordinance, shall not be disturbed except as 


indicated herein.  Where a natural watershed buffer area is otherwise disturbed, it shall 


be replanted according to this Article Ordinance. 


 


(a) Landscape Watershed Buffer Replacement Plan Requirements.  A landscape 


Watershed Buffer Replacement Plan is required for the replacement/replanting of 


natural vegetation: 
 


1. A landscape plan shall be prepared by a landscape architect registered in the 


State of Georgia. 


2. A landscape plan shall include two (2) canopy trees with a minimum trunk 


caliper of two and one half (2 ½) inches (at four [4] six [6] inches from the 


ground) for every 1,000 square feet of disturbed buffer area on the site. 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 16 - 


3. A landscape plan shall include one (1) understory tree with a minimum trunk 


caliper on one (1) inch (at four [4] six [6] inches from the ground) for every 


1,000 square feet of disturbed buffer area on the site. 


4. Required trees shall be randomly places so that the mature canopy covers the 


buffer area.  


5. All disturbed buffer areas shall be 100 percent covered with deciduous trees, 


shrubs, and/or ground cover (not requiring mowing). 


(b) Landscape Watershed Buffer Replacement Plan Check Sheet.  A Landscape 


Watershed Buffer Replacement plan shall contain the following information: 


 


1. Name, address and telephone number of property owner. 


2. Name, address, telephone number and seal of landscape architect who prepared 


the plan. 


3. Site location map, north point, scale of drawings. 


4. Show all pertinent site features:  buildings, walks, drives, underground utilities, 


water bodies, etc. 


5. Show all property lines, distances to bodies of water and/or streams, and the 


limits of the natural buffer areas. 


6. Show calculations on the plan for:  total area, buffer area disturbed (in inches and 


square feet).  Indicate numbers of canopy and understory trees required by 


ordinance. 


7. Planting key:  botanical and common name of all plant materials proposed; 


quantity of each species, size of plant material (caliper, height, width); condition 


(i.e. balled and burlapped, container grown, bare root, collected, etc.); 


8. Submit three (3) copies of plans for review.  One (1) will be returned upon 


approval. 


Section 8-206. Variance Procedures  The following variance and appeals procedures shall 


apply to an owner/operator or developer who has been denied a permit for a development 


activity or to an owner or developer who has not applied for a permit because it is clear that 


the proposed development activity would be inconsistent with the provisions of this 


ordinance. A request for a variance may be submitted by an owner/operator who has been 


denied a permit by the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department or by an 


owner/operator or developer who has not previously applied for a permit for the reasons 


stated herein above. 


 


Variances will be considered only in the following cases: 


a. When a property's shape, topography or other physical conditions prevents 


land development unless a buffer/setback variance is granted.   







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 17 - 


b. Unusual circumstances, that when strict adherence to the minimal 


buffer/setback requirements in the ordinance would create an extreme 


hardship. 


 


 (1) Requests for variances from the requirements of this ordinance shall be submitted to 


the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department.  All such requests shall be 


heard and decided in accordance with plan review procedures established by the 


Fayette County Stormwater Management Department.  At a minimum, such 


procedures shall include notice to all affected parties and the opportunity to be heard.  


 


(2) Any person adversely affected by any decision of the Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department shall have the right to appeal such decision to the Fayette 


County Planning Commission as established by Fayette County in accordance with 


procedures issued by the Fayette County Planning Commission.  At a minimum, such 


procedures shall include notice to all affected parties and the opportunity to be heard. 


 


(3)   Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Fayette County Planning Commission may 


appeal such decision to the Fayette County State Court, as provided in Section 5-4-1 of 


the Official Code of Georgia Annotated.  


 


(5)   Variances may be issued for development necessary for the conduct of a functionally 


dependent use, provided the criteria of this Section are met, no reasonable alternative 


exists, and the development is protected by methods that minimize buffer disturbances.  


 


(7)   In reviewing such requests, the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department 


and Fayette County Planning Commission shall consider all technical evaluations, 


relevant factors, and all standards specified in this and other sections of this ordinance.  


 


(8)  Conditions for Variances:  


 


(a) A variance shall be issued only when all of the following conditions are met:  


 


(i) a finding of good and sufficient cause; and  


 


(ii) a determination that failure to grant the variance would result in 


exceptional hardship.  


 


(c) Any person to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 


specifying the difference between the current buffer(s) and setback(s) 


requirements and the buffer(s) and setback(s) allowed by the variance. 


 


(d) The Fayette County Stormwater Management Department shall maintain the 


records of all appeal actions. 


  


(9) Any person requesting a variance shall, from the time of the request until the time the 


request is acted upon, submit such information and documentation as Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department and Fayette County Planning Commission shall 


deem necessary to the consideration of the request. 


 


(10) Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purposes of this Ordinance, 


Fayette County Stormwater Management Department and the Fayette County 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 18 - 


Planning Commission may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as they 


deem necessary or appropriate, consistent with the purposes of this Ordinance.  


 


(11) Variances shall not be issued “after the fact.” 


 


(12) At a minimum, a variance request shall include the following information: 


 


a. A site map that includes locations of all streams, wetlands, floodplain 


boundaries and other natural features, as determined by field survey; 


b. A description of the shape, size, topography, slope, soils, vegetation and other 


physical characteristics of the property; 


c. A detailed site plan that shows the locations of all existing and proposed 


structures and other impervious cover, the limits of all existing and proposed 


land disturbance, both inside and outside the buffer and setback.  The exact 


area of the buffer to be affected shall be accurately and clearly indicated; 


d. Documentation of unusual hardship should the buffer be maintained; 


e. At least one alternative plan, which does not include a buffer or setback 


intrusion, or an explanation of why such a site plan is not possible; 


f. A calculation of the total area and length of the proposed intrusion; 


g. A stormwater management site plan, if applicable; and, 


h. Proposed mitigation, for the intrusion.  If mitigation is not proposed, the 


request must explain why. 


 


(13) The following factors will be considered in determining whether to issue a variance: 


 


a. The shape, size, topography, slope, soils, vegetation and other physical 


characteristics of the property; 


b. The locations of all streams on the property, including along property 


boundaries; 


c. The location and extent of the proposed buffer or setback intrusion; and, 


d. Whether alternative designs are possible which require less intrusion or no 


intrusion; 


e. The long-term and construction water-quality impacts of the proposed 


variance; and, 


f. Whether issuance of the variance is at least as protective of natural resources 


and the environment. 


 


Section 8-207. PENALTIES  


 


In the event the remedial measures described in the notice of violation have not been completed 


by the date set forth for such completion in the notice of violation, any one or more of the 


following actions or penalties may be taken or assessed against the person to whom the notice 


of violation was directed.   Before taking any of the following actions or imposing any of the 


following penalties, the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department shall first notify 


the owner/operator or other responsible person in writing of its intended action, and shall 


provide a reasonable opportunity, of not less than ten (10) days (except, that in the event the 


violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 hours notice 


shall be sufficient) to cure such violation.  In the event the owner/operator or other responsible 


person fails to cure such violation after such notice and cure period, the Fayette County 







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 19 - 


Stormwater Management Department may take any one or more of the following actions or 


impose any one or more of the following penalties. 


 


(1) Stop Work Order -The Fayette County Stormwater Management Department may issue 


a stop work order which shall be served on the owner/operator or other responsible 


person.  The stop work order shall remain in effect until the owner/operator or other 


responsible person has taken the remedial measures set forth in the notice of violation 


or has otherwise cured the violation or violations described therein, provided the stop 


work order may be withdrawn or modified to enable the owner/operator or other 


responsible person to take the necessary remedial measures to cure such violation or 


violations.  


 


(2) Withhold Certificate of Occupancy - The Fayette County Stormwater Management 


Department may refuse to issue a certificate of occupancy for any building or other 


improvements constructed or being constructed on the site until the owner/operator or 


other responsible person has taken the remedial measures set forth in the notice of 


violation or has otherwise cured the violations described therein. 


 


(3) Suspension, Revocation or Modification of Permit - The Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department may suspend, revoke or modify any permit authorizing any 


development on the project.  A suspended, revoked or modified permit may be 


reinstated after the owner/operator or other responsible person has taken the remedial 


measures set forth in the notice of violation or has otherwise cured the violations 


described therein, provided such permit may be reinstated (upon such conditions as the 


Fayette County Stormwater Management Department may deem necessary) to enable 


the owner/operator or other responsible person to take the necessary remedial 


measures to cure such violations. 


 


(4) Civil Penalties - For intentional and flagrant violations of this ordinance or in the 


event the owner/operator or other responsible person fails to take the remedial 


measures set forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations 


described therein within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department shall deem appropriate (except, that in the event 


the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 


hours notice shall be sufficient), the Fayette County Stormwater Management 


Department may impose a penalty not to exceed $1,000 (depending on the severity of 


the violation) for each day the violation is not remediated after receipt of the notice of 


violation. 


 


(5) Criminal Penalties - For intentional and flagrant violations of this ordinance, or in the 


event the owner/operator or other responsible person fails to take the remedial 


measures set forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations 


described therein within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department shall deem appropriate (except, that in the event 


the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 


hours notice shall be sufficient), the Fayette County Stormwater Management 


Department may issue a citation to the owner/operator or other responsible person, 


requiring such person to appear in Fayette County State Court to answer charges for 


such violation.  Upon conviction, such person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed 


$2,500.00 per day, per violation or a sentence of imprisonment for 60 days or both.  







10/25/2010 11:16:18 AM - 20 - 


Each act of violation and each day upon which any violation shall occur shall 


constitute a separate offense. 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 1 - 


 


ARTICLE VII.  WATERSHED PROTECTION ORDINANCE 


Section 8-201. Introduction 


It is hereby determined that buffers adjacent to streams provide numerous benefits including: 


1. Protecting, restoring and maintaining the chemical, physical and biological integrity 


of streams and their water resources, 


2. Removing pollutants delivered in urban stormwater, 


3. Reducing erosion and controlling sedimentation, 


4. Protecting and stabilizing stream banks, 


5. Providing for infiltration of stormwater runoff, 


6. Maintaining base flow of streams, 


7. Contributing organic matter that is a source of food and energy for the aquatic 


ecosystem, 


8. Providing tree canopy to shade streams and promote desirable aquatic habitat, 


9. Providing riparian wildlife habitat, 


10. Furnishing scenic value and recreational opportunity; and 


11. Providing opportunities for the protection and restoration of greenspace. 


Section 8-202. Definitions 
 


Base Flood.  The flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 


given year, also known as the 100-year flood. 


 


Base Flood Elevation. The highest water surface elevation anticipated at any given point 


during the base flood. 


 


Canopy Tree.  Any tree having reached a relatively tall height compared to surrounding trees 


and vegetation and providing shade from its foliage mass; also individual or tree groups 


forming an overhead cover.  Examples include oak, maple, hickory, beech, pecan, sycamore, 


sweet gum, poplar, ash, river birch, long leaf pine, and loblolly pine trees. 


 


Ground Cover.  A plant with a low-growing, spreading habit, grown specifically to cover the 


ground, generally not attaining a height of more than two (2) feet.  


 


Impervious Surface.  The area where a man-made structure or surface prevents the infiltration 


of storm water into the ground below the structure and/or surface. Examples include buildings, 


paved roads, paved driveways, paved parking lots, swimming pools, or patios. 


 


Large Water Supply Watershed. A watershed area which is greater than 100 square miles as 


defined by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division. 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 2 - 


Natural Vegetation.  Natural vegetation is a generally undisturbed, maintenance-free, self-


perpetuating stand of vegetation comprised of indigenous shrubs, flowers, wild grasses, and 


trees. 


 


Nitrification Field.  A nitrification field shall be any area used for the on-site disposal of 


wastewater. 


 


Pollutant.  Any substance as certain chemicals or waste products, that renders the air, soil, 


water or other natural resource harmful or unsuitable. 


 


Reservoir.  A reservoir shall be an existing or future impoundment of water for water supply 


purposes as identified by Resolution of the Fayette County Board of Commissioners. 


 


Shrub.  A plant with persistent woody stems and a relatively low growth habit, distinguished 


from a tree by producing several basal stems instead of a single trunk. 


 


Small Water Supply Watershed. A watershed area which is less than 100 square miles as 


defined by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division. 


 


State Water.  Any and all rivers, streams, creeks, branches, lakes, reservoirs, ponds, drainage 


systems, springs, wells, and other water bodies of surface or subsurface water, natural or 


artificial, lying within or forming a part of the boundaries of the state that are not entirely 


confined and retained completely upon the property of a single individual, home owners 


association, partnership, or corporation.  (Amended June 9, 2005) 


 


Stream Bank. The uppermost part of the bank marked by a break in slope (as defined by the 


Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protection Division). A stream bank 


is not necessarily the water’s edge. 


 


Tree.  A self supporting perennial plant having one (1) or more stems or trunks, that, at 


maturity, has one or more stems or trunks that  attain a diameter of at least two (2) inches, a 


more or less definitely formed crown of foliage; and a height of ten (10) feet or more. 


 


Tributaries and Streams. State waters, whether named or unnamed, that continuously flow to 


major water supply streams. 


 


Utility.  A public or private water or sewer piping systems, water or sewer pumping stations, 


electric power lines, fuel pipelines, telephone lines, roads, driveways, bridges, river/lake access 


facilities, storm water systems and railroads or other utilities identified by a local government. 


 


Understory Tree.  Any tree, which is of relatively lesser height and spread than surrounding 


canopy trees, but still provides shade and a degree of protection to the earth and vegetation 


beneath it.  Examples include dogwood, cherry, red bud, sassafras, crabapple, pear, American 


holly, red cedar, and magnolia trees. 


 


Water Supply Reservoir.  A governmentally-owned impoundment of water for the primary 


purpose of providing water to one or more governmentally owned public drinking water 


systems. This excludes the multipurpose reservoirs owned by the U.S. Army Corps of 


Engineers. 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 3 - 


Water Supply Watershed.  The area of land upstream of a governmentally-owned public 


drinking water intake.  


 


Watershed Buffer.  The area of a parcel set aside to provide a separation between the use(s) on 


the parcel and adjoining parcel(s) and a state waters requiring a buffer through the use of 


natural vegetation, replanting, and supplemental plantings.   


 


Watershed Setback. The area of a parcel where all structures, septic tanks, nitrification fields 


and any impervious surfaces shall be prohibited.  Grading, filling and earthmoving shall be 


minimized within the setback.  


 


Wrested Vegetation.  Wrested vegetation is vegetation that has been disturbed, moved, or 


removed by flowing water creating a clear demarcation between water flow and vegetative 


growth. 


Section 8-203. General Provisions 


 


(a) Purpose and Intent.  Ordinance is to help ensure the public health, safety, environment, and 


general welfare; to minimize public and private losses due to erosion, siltation and water 


pollution; to preserve stream water quality; and to comply with the laws of the State of 


Georgia pursuant to O.C.G.A. 12-2-8 by provisions :  


1. Create buffers and setbacks along state waters in Fayette County for stream bank 


stabilization, water resource protection, and protection of aquatic and riparian habitat. 


2. Minimize land development within such buffers and setbacks by limiting development 


activities within these protected areas and by requiring authorization for any such 


activities.  


(b) Applicability.  The following large and small water supply watersheds,  designated major 


water supply streams, named tributaries, minor unnamed streams, and waters requiring a state 


buffer located in and out of the large and small water supply watersheds shall be governed by 


this Article.   This Ordinance shall be applicable to any parcel within unincorporated Fayette 


County that has been created/reconfigured after May 28, 1987, unless it is a minor revision to 


a Recorded Final Plat/Minor Subdivision Plat as defined in Article XIII of the Fayette County 


Developmental Regulations.   


(c) Designation of Ordinance Administrator.  The Stormwater Management Director shall 


administer and implement the provisions of this ordinance.  


(d) Compatibility with Other Regulations.  This ordinance is not intended to modify or repeal 


any other ordinance, rule, regulation, statute, easement, covenant, deed restriction or other 


provision of law.  The requirements of this ordinance are in addition to the requirements of any 


other ordinance, rule, regulation or other provision of law, and where any provision of this 


ordinance imposes restrictions different from those imposed by any other ordinance, rule, 


regulation or other provision of law, whichever provision is more restrictive or impose higher 


protective standards for human health or the environment shall control. 


(e) Severability.  If the provisions of any section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision or clause of 


this ordinance shall be adjudged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 4 - 


shall not affect or invalidate the remainder of any section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision or 


clause of this ordinance. 


(f) Watershed Buffer/Setback Access. Vegetation within a watershed buffer/setback area shall 


not be disturbed except for access and utilities approved by The Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department.   


  


(g) Water Supply Watersheds: Fayette County contains one (1) large water supply watershed and 


four (4) small water supply watersheds as indicated on the Fayette County Watershed 


Protection Map,  


1. The Flint River is the only large water supply watershed in Fayette County where intakes 


for Fayette County, Clayton County and the City of Griffin are located. This water supply 


watershed does not contain a reservoir.    


2. The four (4) small water supply watersheds are:       


a. Line Creek Watershed where Fayette County and Coweta County intakes are 


located.  This water supply watershed is the location of the proposed Lake 


McIntosh (a water supply reservoir); 


b. Flat Creek Watershed where a Fayette County intake is located.  Flat Creek is a 


named tributary that flows into Lake Kedron and then into Lake Peachtree (both 


are water supply reservoirs); 


c. Whitewater Creek Watershed where Fayette County and the City of Fayetteville 


intakes are located.  This water supply watershed does not contain a reservoir; and 


d. Horton Creek Watershed where a Fayette County intake is located.  Antioch Creek 


and Woolsey Creek are named tributaries that flow into Lake Horton (a water 


supply reservoir). 


(h) State Waters Determination. For purposes of this ordinance, the Stormwater Management 


Department shall make state water determinations, but will not delineate said waters.  Recorded 


drainage easements and ditches/swales used for conveying wet-weather flows (i.e., no base 


flow) shall not require a watershed buffer. 


 


Section 8-204. Minimum Watershed Protection Requirements. The following watershed buffer and 


setback requirements shall be required on all state waters requiring a buffer within 


unincorporated Fayette County.  


 


No sewage treatment facility, dumping, discharging, releasing, spraying, distributing of any 


toxic or other pollutant is allowed onto the watershed buffer and setback. 


  


Watershed buffer areas may be hand thinned or hand trimmed of vegetation in accordance with 


the Fayette County Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance. 


Pervious hiking trails and picnic areas will be allowed within the natural watershed buffer and 


setback.  Any land disturbance activities are subject to Article IX and Article IV. 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 5 - 


The watershed buffer shall only constitute 50 percent of a livestock containment area.  


The watershed buffer shall only extend for 1,000 feet from the wrested vegetation of state 


waters requiring a buffer. If the watershed buffer exceeds the said 1,000 feet then the 1,000 feet 


will become the watershed buffer and watershed setback will not be applied. 


For (c), (d) and (e) only the watershed buffer  may be reduced to 100 feet  for activities that do 


not require grubbing or tilling, such as tree harvesting without stump removal, if and only if, a 


copy of documentation submitted to Forestry Commission is submitted to Fayette County 


Stormwater Management prior to requesting a reduction in the watershed buffer.  


(a) The following shall apply to any property within 1,000 feet of a reservoir: 


 


1. Minimum watershed buffer 150 feet as measured from the normal pool elevation 


or base flood elevation, whichever is greater. 


(b) The following shall apply to Antioch Creek, Flat Creek, Gin Branch, Haddock Creek, Horton 


Creek, Line Creek, Trickum Creek, and Woolsey Creek located within Lake Horton, Lake 


Kedron/Lake Peachtree and Line Creek Reservoirs watersheds:  


 


1. Minimum watershed buffer is 100 feet as measured from the wrested 


vegetation. 


2. Minimum watershed setback  is 50 feet as measured from the  buffer. 


(c) The following shall apply to the Flint River, Whitewater Creek and all state waters 


requiring a watershed buffer within 1,000 feet of the above named streams: 


1. Minimum watershed buffer is 400 feet as measured from the wrested 


vegetation or is the 100 feet from the  base flood elevation, whichever is 


greater. 


2. Minimum watershed setback is 50 feet as measured from the buffer. 


 


(d) The following shall apply to Ginger Cake Creek, Pelham Creek, Perry Creek, South Camp 


Creek, Sandy Creek, Shoal Creek, Tar Creek, and Whitewater Creek within the Whitewater 


Creek Watershed; Gay Creek, Morning Creek, Murphy Creek, North Camp Creek, and 


Nash Creek, within the Flint River Watershed; and all other state waters requiring a buffer 


within 1000 feet of the above named streams: 


1. Minimum watershed buffer is 200 feet  from wrested vegetation or 100 feet 


from  base flood elevation, whichever is greater. 


2. Minimum watershed setback is 50 feet as measured from the buffer. 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 6 - 


(e) The following shall apply to all other perennial streams within the Flint River Watershed, 


the Whitewater Creek Watershed and all state waters requiring a buffer within 1,000 feet of 


these minor perennial streams. 


1. Minimum l watershed buffer - 100 feet  from wrested vegetation or 50 feet 


from 100-year flood plain elevation, whichever is greater. Minimum 


watershed setback  is 50 feet as measured from the buffer.  


(f) All state waters requiring a buffer not otherwise protected by Section 208(a)-(e) of this 


ordinance shall meet the following requirements. 


1. Minimum watershed buffer shall be maintained for 50 feet from wrested vegetation 


measured horizontally from both side of the stream.   


2. Minimum watershed setback 25 feet as measured from the buffer.  


3. This section of the ordinance shall not apply to the following activities: 


a. Agricultural operation as defined in Section 8-243(5) of Fayette County’s 


Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance; and 


b. Forestry land management practices as defines in Section 8-243(6) of 


Fayette County’s Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance. 


(g) The following restrictions shall apply specifically to Large Water Supply Watersheds as 


identified in the ordinance: 


1. New facilities located within seven (7) miles of a water supply intake or water supply 


reservoir, which handle hazardous materials of the types and amounts determined by 


the Department of Natural Resources, shall perform their operations on impermeable 


surfaces having spill and leak collection systems as prescribed by the Department of 


Natural Resources.   


(h) The following restrictions shall apply specifically to Small Water Supply Watersheds as 


identified in the ordinance: 


1. New facilities located within seven (7) miles of a water supply intake or water supply 


reservoir, which handle hazardous materials of the types and amounts determined by 


the Department of Natural Resources, shall perform their operations on impermeable 


surface having spill and leak collection systems as prescribed by the Department of 


Natural Resources.   


2. The impervious surface area, including all public and private structures, utilities, or 


facilities, of the entire water supply watershed shall be limited to 25 percent, or 


existing use, whichever is greater. 


3. New hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities are prohibited. 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 7 - 


Section 8-205. Other Water Quality Considerations. Owner Responsibility. It shall be the 


responsibility of every owner, developer or builder to present required plans and to 


comply with Article IX. 


Section 8-206. Watershed Buffer Protection and Replacement.  Vegetation within a 


watershed buffer, as defined in this Ordinance, shall not be disturbed except as 


indicated herein.  Where a watershed buffer area is otherwise disturbed, it shall be 


replanted according to this Ordinance. 


(a) Watershed Buffer Replacement Plan Requirements.  A  Watershed Buffer Replacement 


Plan is required for the replacement/replanting of natural vegetation: 


1. A landscape plan shall be prepared by a landscape architect registered in the State of 


Georgia. 


2. A landscape plan shall show two (2) canopy trees with a minimum trunk caliper of 


two and one half (2 ½) inches (at six [6] inches from the ground) for every 1,000 


square feet of disturbed buffer area on the site. 


3. A landscape plan shall show one (1) understory tree with a minimum trunk caliper on 


one (1) inch (at six [6]  inches from the ground) for every 1,000 square feet of 


disturbed buffer area on the site. 


4. Required trees shall be randomly placed so that the mature canopy covers the buffer 


area. All disturbed buffer areas shall be 100 percent covered with deciduous trees, 


shrubs, and/or ground cover (not requiring mowing). 


(b) Watershed Buffer Replacement Plan Check Sheet.  A  Watershed Buffer Replacement plan 


shall contain the following information: 


1. Name, address, and telephone number of property owner. 


2. Name, address, telephone number, and seal of landscape architect who prepared the 


plan. 


3. Site location map, north point, and scale of drawings. 


4. Show all pertinent site features:  buildings, walks, drives, underground utilities, water 


bodies, etc. 


5. Show all property lines, distances to bodies of water and/or streams, and the limits of 


the natural buffer areas. 


6. Show calculations on the plan for:  total area, buffer area disturbed (in inches and 


square feet).  Indicate numbers of canopy and understory trees required by ordinance. 


7. Planting key:  botanical and common name of all plant materials proposed; quantity 


of each species, size of plant material (caliper, height, width); condition (i.e. balled 


and burlapped, container grown, bare root, collected, etc.); and 


8. Submit three (3) copies of plans for review.  One (1) will be returned upon approval. 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 8 - 


Section 8-207. Variance Procedures  The following variance and appeals procedures shall 


apply to an owner/operator or developer who has been denied a permit for a development 


activity or to an owner or developer who has not applied for a permit because it is clear that the 


proposed development activity would be inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance. A 


request for a variance may be submitted by an owner/operator who has been denied a permit by 


the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department or by an owner/operator or developer 


who has not previously applied for a permit for the reasons stated herein above. 


 


Variances will be considered only in the following cases: 


a. When a property's shape, topography or other physical conditions prevents land 


development unless a buffer/setback variance is granted.   


b. Unusual circumstances, that when strict adherence to the minimal buffer/setback 


requirements in the ordinance would create an extreme hardship. 


 


 (1) Requests for variances from the requirements of this ordinance shall be submitted to the 


Fayette County Stormwater Management Department.  All such requests shall be heard 


and decided in accordance with plan review procedures established by the Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department.  At a minimum, such procedures shall include 


notice to all affected parties and the opportunity to be heard.  


 


(2) Any person adversely affected by any decision of the Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department shall have the right to appeal such decision to the Fayette 


County Planning Commission as established by Fayette County in accordance with 


procedures issued by the Fayette County Planning Commission.  At a minimum, such 


procedures shall include notice to all affected parties and the opportunity to be heard. 


 


(3)   Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Fayette County Planning Commission may 


appeal such decision to the Fayette County State Court, as provided in Section 5-4-1 of 


the Official Code of Georgia Annotated.  


 


(5)   Variances may be issued for development necessary for the conduct of a functionally 


dependent use, provided the criteria of this Section are met, no reasonable alternative 


exists, and the development is protected by methods that minimize buffer disturbances.  


 


(7)   In reviewing such requests, the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department and 


Fayette County Planning Commission shall consider all technical evaluations, relevant 


factors, and all standards specified in this and other sections of this ordinance.  


 


(8)  Conditions for Variances:  


 


(a) A variance shall be issued only when all of the following conditions are met:  


 


(i) a finding of good and sufficient cause; and  


 


(ii) a determination that failure to grant the variance would result in 


exceptional hardship.  


 


(c) Any person to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 


specifying the difference between the current buffer(s) and setback(s) 


requirements and the buffer(s) and setback(s) allowed by the variance. 


 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 9 - 


(d) The Fayette County Stormwater Management Department shall maintain the 


records of all appeal actions. 


  


(9) Any person requesting a variance shall, from the time of the request until the time the 


request is acted upon, submit such information and documentation as Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department and Fayette County Planning Commission shall 


deem necessary to the consideration of the request. 


 


(10) Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purposes of this Ordinance, 


Fayette County Stormwater Management Department and the Fayette County Planning 


Commission may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as they deem 


necessary or appropriate, consistent with the purposes of this Ordinance.  


 


(11) Variances shall not be issued “after the fact.” 


 


(12) At a minimum, a variance request shall include the following information: 


 


a. A site map that includes locations of all streams, wetlands, floodplain boundaries 


and other natural features, as determined by field survey; 


b. A description of the shape, size, topography, slope, soils, vegetation and other 


physical characteristics of the property; 


c. A detailed site plan that shows the locations of all existing and proposed 


structures and other impervious cover, the limits of all existing and proposed land 


disturbance, both inside and outside the buffer and setback.  The exact area of the 


buffer to be affected shall be accurately and clearly indicated; 


d. Documentation of unusual hardship should the buffer be maintained; 


e. At least one alternative plan, which does not include a buffer or setback 


intrusion, or an explanation of why such a site plan is not possible; 


f. A calculation of the total area and length of the proposed intrusion; 


g. A stormwater management site plan, if applicable; and, 


h. Proposed mitigation, for the intrusion.  If mitigation is not proposed, the request 


must explain why. 


 


(13) The following factors will be considered in determining whether to issue a variance: 


 


a. The shape, size, topography, slope, soils, vegetation and other physical 


characteristics of the property; 


b. The locations of all streams on the property, including along property boundaries; 


c. The location and extent of the proposed buffer or setback intrusion; and, 


d. Whether alternative designs are possible which require less intrusion or no 


intrusion; 


e. The long-term and construction water-quality impacts of the proposed variance; 


and, 


f. Whether issuance of the variance is at least as protective of natural resources and 


the environment. 


Section 8-208. PENALTIES  


 


In the event the remedial measures described in the notice of violation have not been completed 


by the date set forth for such completion in the notice of violation, any one or more of the 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 10 - 


following actions or penalties may be taken or assessed against the person to whom the notice of 


violation was directed.   Before taking any of the following actions or imposing any of the 


following penalties, the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department shall first notify the 


owner/operator or other responsible person in writing of its intended action, and shall provide a 


reasonable opportunity, of not less than ten (10) days (except, that in the event the violation 


constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 hours notice shall be 


sufficient) to cure such violation.  In the event the owner/operator or other responsible person 


fails to cure such violation after such notice and cure period, the Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department may take any one or more of the following actions or impose any one 


or more of the following penalties. 


 


(1) Stop Work Order -The Fayette County Stormwater Management Department may issue 


a stop work order which shall be served on the owner/operator or other responsible 


person.  The stop work order shall remain in effect until the owner/operator or other 


responsible person has taken the remedial measures set forth in the notice of violation or 


has otherwise cured the violation or violations described therein, provided the stop work 


order may be withdrawn or modified to enable the owner/operator or other responsible 


person to take the necessary remedial measures to cure such violation or violations.  


 


(2) Withhold Certificate of Occupancy - The Fayette County Stormwater Management 


Department may refuse to issue a certificate of occupancy for any building or other 


improvements constructed or being constructed on the site until the owner/operator or 


other responsible person has taken the remedial measures set forth in the notice of 


violation or has otherwise cured the violations described therein. 


 


(3) Suspension, Revocation or Modification of Permit - The Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department may suspend, revoke or modify any permit authorizing any 


development on the project.  A suspended, revoked or modified permit may be reinstated 


after the owner/operator or other responsible person has taken the remedial measures set 


forth in the notice of violation or has otherwise cured the violations described therein, 


provided such permit may be reinstated (upon such conditions as the Fayette County 


Stormwater Management Department may deem necessary) to enable the owner/operator 


or other responsible person to take the necessary remedial measures to cure such 


violations. 


 


(4) Civil Penalties - For intentional and flagrant violations of this ordinance or in the event 


the owner/operator or other responsible person fails to take the remedial measures set 


forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations described therein 


within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department shall deem appropriate (except, that in the event the violation 


constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 hours notice shall be 


sufficient), the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department may impose a 


penalty not to exceed $1,000 (depending on the severity of the violation) for each day the 


violation is not remediated after receipt of the notice of violation. 


 


(5) Criminal Penalties - For intentional and flagrant violations of this ordinance, or in the 


event the owner/operator or other responsible person fails to take the remedial measures 


set forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations described 


therein within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the Fayette County Stormwater 


Management Department shall deem appropriate (except, that in the event the violation 


constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 hours notice shall be 







10/25/2010 11:16:38 AM - 11 - 


sufficient), the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department may issue a citation 


to the owner/operator or other responsible person, requiring such person to appear in 


Fayette County State Court to answer charges for such violation.  Upon conviction, such 


person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed $2,500.00 per day, per violation or a 


sentence of imprisonment for 60 days or both.  Each act of violation and each day upon 


which any violation shall occur shall constitute a separate offense. 





		Stormwater Management- Develo...tions Agenda Request File.pdf

		Stormwater Management- Development Regulations Backup

		Microsoft Word - Article 5 - buffer and landscape vtb .pdf

		Microsoft Word - Article 7 - Watershed Protection Proposed Changes 

		Microsoft Word - Article 7 - Watershed Protection Proposed Changes _clean_





